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Communication objective
This annual report has been prepared to meet the 
information needs of Parliamentary Service clients 
and stakeholders. 

These include Members of Parliament, parliamentary 
committees, electorate offices and staff, government  
agencies, the media, the Commonwealth Parliamentary 
Association and other parliaments, schools and students, 
and the people of Queensland.

The report is designed to provide an account of the 
achievements and activities of the Parliamentary Service 
for 2020-21 in accordance with the goals specified in the 
Queensland Parliamentary Service Management Plan 2016-
2020. In addition, the report fulfils our statutory reporting 
requirements.

This report is available electronically from our website at 
www.parliament.qld.gov.au. 

Copyright
Copyright protects this publication except for  
purposes permitted by the Copyright Act. Reproduction 
by whatever means is prohibited without the prior  
written permission of the Clerk of the Parliament. 
Reference to this document is permitted only with 
appropriate acknowledgement. 

ISSN 1837-2716 

Interpreter service 
The Queensland Parliamentary Service is 
committed to providing accessible services 
to Queenslanders from all culturally and 
linguistically diverse backgrounds. If you 
have difficulty in understanding the annual report, you can 
contact us on telephone (07) 3553 6000 or freecall 
1800 197 809 and we will arrange an interpreter to 
effectively communicate the report to you.

Stock
This document is printed on Australian made, carbon 
neutral paper, AFS/01-31-08. Copyright and ISSN ©The 
Queensland Parliamentary Service (2021).

Reporting year
This report covers activities that occurred during the 
2020-2021 financial year. Previous annual reports of the 
Queensland Parliamentary Service are available online at 
www.parliament.qld.gov.au

Your thoughts
Readers are encouraged to provide feedback about the 
2020-2021 Annual Report by emailing:
ClerksOffice@parliament.qld.gov.au
Readers can also comment online via the Queensland 
Parliament website at www.parliament.qld.gov.au.  
Your comments will help us to continue to refine 
our corporate reporting to ensure that we meet the 
expectations of our stakeholders.

ml 
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From the Speaker

It gives me great pleasure to present the Annual 
Report for the Queensland Parliamentary Service for 
2020-21. 

2020-21 was a year of change for the Queensland 
Parliament. Some changes were familiar as a 
consequence from the election of the 57th Parliament 
in October 2020. Other changes only eventuated in 
response to the extraordinary events of the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

A new Parliament refreshes the membership of the 
Legislative Assembly to ensure that it reflects the 
community Parliament is tasked to serve. Of the 93 
MPs elected at the October 2020 State Election, 10 
were elected for the first time.

The 57th Parliament was opened by His Excellency 
the Governor on Wednesday 25 November 2020 
with an address in the Legislative Council Chamber. 
This was followed by the customary reception on the 
Speaker’s Green. 

It was a great accomplishment of the Parliamentary 
Service to deliver this event with the customary 
number of guests in a Covid safe manner. 

Covid-19 continued to cast a long shadow over 
the operation of the Parliament as was the case 
across the wider Queensland community. The 
impact of Covid-19 measures was pervasive across 
all operations of the Parliamentary Service at the 
beginning of the 2020-21 financial year. 

To the credit of the service, most operations 
returned to normal through the 2020-21 financial 
year, including public facing offerings such as the 
Sometimes Strangers’ dining experience, school tours 
and public functions.

From a Parliamentary perspective, while limited Covid 
spaced seating may make a Speaker’s job easier, 
a return to a full Parliament is welcomed for the 
atmosphere it provides. 

Despite the Covid-19 disruption the Parliamentary 
education unit has also continued to deliver engaging 
events for school students to learn about our 
democracy. 

In September 2020, the Junior Indigenous Youth 
Parliament was held in Cairns, while a Youth 
Parliament was held on the Gold Coast in June 2021. 
Several more Youth Parliaments are planned for 2021-
22.

Like all institutions, the Parliament has had to deal 
with the challenges of Covid-19. The Parliamentary 
Service is also focusing on the challenges for 
tomorrow. 

The 2021-22 state budget delivered in June 
2021 provided funding for Stage 2 of the Critical 
Infrastructure and Services Upgrade of the 
Parliamentary Annexe.

The Parliamentary Annexe is a facility, in the 
Australian context, unique to Queensland. Unlike 
other states and the Commonwealth, a single 
building is used to provide not just facilities for the 
operation of Parliament and offices for Members, but 
also bedrooms for all Ministers and Members who 
reside outside the City of Brisbane.

This facility initially built in the mid-to-late 1970s 
reflects Queensland’s decentralisation and the 
principle that Parliament should meet the needs of 
Members from all across Queensland. 

“A new Parliament refreshes the 
membership of the Legislative 
Assembly to ensure that it reflects 
the community Parliament is tasked 
to serve.”
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From 2022-23, Stage 2 of the Critical Infrastructure 
and Services Upgrade will deliver the upgrade and 
repair of the external façade of the Parliamentary 
Annexe to address increasing safety risks, together 
with replacing carpets and soft furnishings and 
painting of Members offices and bedrooms on floors 
9 to 23. 

Planning for Stage 2 of the Critical Infrastructure 
Program has already commenced and will continue 
throughout 2021-22 ahead of the commencement of 
work in July 2022.

The project will deliver a value for money outcome 
that will extend the life of the Annexe at a fraction of 
the cost of replacing the building. 

When finished the Annexe will be able to continue 
to provide Members, especially those from outside 
the City of Brisbane, a facility fit for the needs of 
Members and the constituents they represent. 

The proposed future refurbishment follow completed 
works on the Parliamentary Precinct in 2020-21 
including:

• The design and installation of the external LED 
colour lights illuminating the external façade of 
Parliament House

• Reinstatement of the rainwater catchment 
system located between Parliament House and 
the Annexe, and

• Completion of the fire sprinkler project including 
replacement of ceiling and facia sheeting on 
outdoor colonnades along with installation of 
new LED energy efficient ceiling lights.

Honourable Curtis Pitt MP
Speaker of the Queensland Legislative Assembly

Finally, I wish to take this opportunity to 
acknowledge my fellow members of the Committee 
of the Legislative Assembly for their collaboration 
and advice to ensure the running of a modern and 
efficient Parliament.

On behalf of the Members of the 57th Parliament, 
I thank the Clerk Neil Laurie, the Executive 
Management Group and all Parliamentary Service 
staff for their hard work and dedication during the 
2020-21 Financial Year.
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Clerk’s Report

The 57th Parliament

This financial year saw the first statutory 
programmed dissolution of a Parliament, the 56th 
Parliament, for a general election and the opening 
of a new Parliament. The 57th Parliament is the first 
to operate under a constitutionally entrenched fixed 
four year term. 

The dissolution of a Parliament and the convening 
of a new Parliament involves considerable work 
throughout the Parliamentary Service. The Service 
transitioned old and new Members and provided 
support for the official Opening of Parliament and 
follow-up induction training to new Members and 
electorate officers.

COVID-19

In last financial year’s report I noted that it was a 
year of two different parts, the second part being 
dominated by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Unfortunately, the disruptive effects of COVID-19 
persisted in the 2020-21 financial year, although the 
disruption was not as great as the previous year. 
By July 2020, all precinct staff had returned to the 
precinct for work largely as per normal, and regular 
routine was only interrupted by short snap lock 
downs in January, March and June 2021.

I am pleased to state that the Parliamentary Service 
continued to demonstrate its adaptability and 
innovative nature during these disruptions.

2020-21 Performance

Members of Parliament are surveyed each year on 
the performance of the Parliamentary Service. In 
March 2021, the percentage of Members satisfied 
with the performance of the Parliamentary Service 
as a whole in fulfilling its key purpose was 94%. It is 
pleasing to see that Members’ satisfaction with the 
Parliamentary Service has been maintained during 
such a difficult and disruptive period.  

Despite being one of the State’s oldest institutions, 
technology and digitisation are at the centre of many 
of our initiatives. For example, during the year:

• A new integrated Library Management System 
was selected and implemented. This process 
involved data conversion of 7 million+ records.

• A project commenced to digitise hard copy 
personnel files into the records management 
system, with the ultimate aim of eliminating hard 
copy files.

• We continued the digitisation of historical tabled 
papers on the Tabled Papers Database.

• A project commenced to enable Members to 
process travel entitlements through online forms.

Despite our digitisation focus, the Parliamentary 
Service does not forget the past, and was involved 
in significant events during the year to mark and 
celebrate our history. 

An historical seminar, co-hosted by the Queensland 
Parliament and The Royal Historical Society of 
Queensland in February 2021, commemorated 
the legacy of former premier Sir Samuel Griffith. 
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This is a very exciting juncture for the Parliamentary 
Service and the Parliament generally.

In the 7QTII72 financial year, the Parliamentary 
Service will oversee Stage 2 of the refurbishment 
of the Parliamentary Annexe. This $41 million dollar 
project will be the most complex and detailed project 
overseen by the Parliamentary Service in its history. 

Planning for Stage 2 will dominate the Parliamentary 
Service's agenda for 2021/22. This will include -

• Completion of Stage 1 - Annexe Critical
Infrastructure Project

• Design, planning and procurement for Stage 2
• The refurbishment of Level 6 of the Parliamentary 

Annexe and relocation of most precinct staff to 
Level 6 during the year

• A base build refurbishment of Level 3 of the 
Annexe in readiness for the temporary relocation 
of Members offices from the upper levels of the 
Parliamentary Annexe to Level 3 in 2022-23.

Another event to mark the 30th anniversary of the 
introduction of the Queensland Electoral Districts 
Act 1991 was held in April 2021.

In terms of the precinct, during the year we 
continued to progress the three year Stage 1 Annexe 
Critical Infrastructure Project. This project seeks 
to replace air conditioning, water chillers, electrical 
switchboards and other infrastructure for the
Annexe.

We also continued our focus on energy efficiency 
and management and Implementation of a new 
maintenance strategy.

QUEENSLAND PARLIAMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21
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About the 
Parliamentary Service
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Queensland 
Parliamentary Service
The Queensland Parliamentary Service 
provides administrative and support 
services to the Legislative Assembly, 
its committees and Members. 

The Service comprises staff working 
within the parliamentary precinct 
in Brisbane and also in Members’ 
electorate offices across the state. 

To enhance and emphasise its 
independence from Executive 
Government, the Queensland 
Parliamentary Service was established 
under the Parliamentary Service  
Act 1988. 

Further, as the Parliamentary Service 
is distinct from the Public Service, 
it is not subject to a wide range of 
legislative, administrative and other 
requirements which apply in the 
public sector, although, as a matter 
of practice, it often voluntarily adopts 
equivalent standards. 

Queensland Parliament
The Legislative Assembly, together 
with the Governor of Queensland, 
forms the Queensland Parliament.

In the Westminster system of 
government, which Queensland 
has adopted, Parliament not only 
is the elected law  making body 
but also determines which political 
party or parties form the Executive 
Government. To appoint a Premier and 
other ministers, the Governor must be 
satisfied that the party or parties they 
represent command a majority of the 
votes in the Legislative Assembly.

As the Executive Government is 
ultimately responsible to Parliament, 
the Assembly has the additional 
ongoing role of scrutinising the 
operations of the Executive. 
Accordingly, Parliament is a public 
institution of great constitutional 
importance and is separate from the 
Executive Government.

Legislative Assembly
The Queensland Parliament contains 
only one House, namely, the 
Legislative Assembly. 

The Assembly consists of 93 
Members, who discharge a range 
of important legislative and 
constituency responsibilities. 

Legislative responsibilities involve 
participation in parliamentary 
matters, including the enactment of 
legislation, privileged debate, scrutiny 
of government policy and serving on 
parliamentary committees. 

Constituency responsibilities  
involve Members, as representatives 
of individual electoral districts, 
providing advice and assistance to 
constituents and acting as advocates 
for local interests.

“To be the innovative 
leader in the delivery of 
parliamentary services in 
the Westminster world.”

Purpose
To serve, support, promote and strengthen the  
Legislative Assembly to enable it to fulfil its various 
functions which are fundamental to Queensland’s 
democratic system of government.

Values
 Accountability
We are accountable to the institution, our clients, and 
each other.

 Innovation
We are innovative and strive to create a better future.

 Learning
 We shall continually learn and pass on our knowledge.

 Integrity
 We are honest, ethical, respectful, independent 
and professional.  

 Clients
 We are focused on the needs of our clients.
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Objectives
1. To support the Legislative Assembly (and its committees and 

Members) in fulfilling its functions within the institution of 
Parliament to:

 » make law (and supervise delegated law making)

 » approve and scrutinise the State’s finances

 » scrutinise the actions of executive government (and oversight independent bodies), and

 » provide a forum for debate and grievance.

2. To support Members to engage with and represent  
their Electorates. 

3. To provide information, corporate and facility  
management services.

4. To safeguard, promote and strengthen the important institution 
of Parliament. 
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Financial summary For 

2016-17 
$’000

2017-18 
$’000

2018-19 
$’000

2019-20 
$’000

2020-21 
$’000

Total Income 92,278 99,069 100,709 104,152 106,427

Total Expenses 94,297 96,532 98,669 103,393 105,313

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) -2,019 2,537 2,040 759 1,114

Total Assets 211,106 214,897 220,461 220,764 224,252

Total Liabilities 6,489 3,867 4,802 4,731 3,842

Net Assets 204,617 211,030 215,659 216,033 220,410

For the year ended 30 June 2021

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Current Ratio1 1.41 3.02 3.29 2.93 4.25

Debt/Equity Ratio (%)2 3.17 1.83 2.23 2.19 1.74

Liability/Asset Ratio (%)3 3.07 1.80 2.18 2.14 1.71

Current Assets 8,537 11,669 15,799 13,855 16,334

Current Liabilities 6,043 3,867 4,802 4,731 3,842

1. Current Ratio measures the ability of the Parliamentary Service to meet short-term financial obligations
2. Debt/Equity Ratio represents the debt of the Parliamentary Service as a relative proportion of Equity (net worth)
3. Liability/Asset ratio measures the percentage of the Parliamentary Service’s total assets that are provided via 

liabilities
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Major highlights
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Ceremonial Opening of the 
57th Parliament 
Queensland’s 57th Parliament was formally opened by His 
Excellency the Honourable Paul de Jersey AC, Governor 
of Queensland, on Wednesday 25 November 2020. The 
Governor is a central figure in the opening ceremony as 
the state’s representative of the Crown. 

The ceremony began with a salute from the Tri-Service 
Honour Guard, followed by the Governor’s arrival. The 
Governor was escorted by a mounted police guard and 
a 19-gun salute was fired at Kangaroo Point upon his 
arrival at Parliament House. The Governor inspected the 
Tri-Service Honour Guard before moving the proceedings 
inside Parliament House. 

The official opening ceremony was held in the Legislative 
Council Chamber with the Governor’s opening speech, 
which outlined the government’s agenda and legislative 
goals for the term ahead. Uncle Joe Kirk, Turrbal Elder, also 
addressed the new Parliament.

The ceremony was followed by a garden party on the 
Speaker’s Green, which included a traditional Smoking 
Ceremony and two performances from Tribal Experiences 
and Zom Kolbe Kolbe.

Over 400 guests attended the opening which was 
conducted in accordance with the Parliament’s Covid- 
safe plan. 

(Above) Tribal Experiences performing during the garden party.

(Above) Governor, Honourable Paul de Jersey AC, 
completing the inspection  of the Tri-Service Honour Guard
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Façade Lighting Project
In April 2021, Parliament House completed the facade 
lighting project. The project involved the installation of 
decorative lighting fixtures along with a DMX lighting 
control interface for the entire Parliament House façade. 

The lighting fixtures were selected for their energy 
efficiency and cost-effectiveness, as well as, the ability for 
public engagement with the structure.  

The new lighting system highlights the building’s classical 
architecture, whilst also providing opportunities to 
respond to the many social and cultural events held 
throughout the year. 

New Members’ Induction 
Following the Opening of the 57th Parliament, the 
Parliamentary Service conducted the New Members’ 
Induction program. 

Ten new Members took part in the program, which was 
held over five days. The program commenced on 16 
November 2020 to ensure new Members were prepared 
for the first sitting week, which occurred on 24 November 
2020. 

The program included:

• information sessions with all services areas within the 
organisation

• a one-stop-shop session with external providers and 
staff

• an official photography session, and 
• subject matter sessions with experts such as a social 

media presentation from Professor Axel Bruns, QUT 
and policy and legislation drafting with Mr Tony Keyes, 
Queensland Parliamentary Counsel.

The final day of the program occurred on 26 February 2021 
and provided information about statutory office holders. 

Overall, the New Members’ Induction program was well-
received and feedback showed that a high number of 
members found the program to be comprehensive. 

(Above) Official group photo of new Members of the 57th Parliament.
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Parliamentary Education 
Program
In 2020-21, the Parliamentary Education team delivered 
over 40 different programs across the state - despite 
Covid disruptions. These programs included:

• school group activities
• public service training seminars 
• virtual teacher professional development sessions, and 
• youth parliaments.

The Youth Parliament programs are particularly engaging 
events for students. The programs incorporate many 
real life functions of Parliament to teach students about 
Queensland’s democractic system. Students deliver 
speeches as Youth MPs, or act as parliamentary staff such 
as the Clerk of Parliament and Sergeant-at-Arms. 

The Speaker of the Legislative Assembly attends and local 
Members of Parliament are also invited to act as deputy 
Speakers.

In 2020-21, a total of 221 young people participated in 
these youth parliaments, which were held across the 
state, including:

• Junior Indigenous Youth Parliament – Cairns, 3 
September 

• YMCA Queensland Youth Parliament - Online, 28-30 
September

• Eric Deeral Indigenous Youth Parliament - Parliament 
House, 17 December

• Gold Coast Youth Parliament, 3 June.
(Above) Youth Clerk of Parliament providing advice to the 
deputy Speaker at the  Gold Cast Youth Parliament

(Above) Youth Member giving speech at the Cairns Junior 
Indigenous Youth Parliament

(Above) Official photo of the 2020 Eric Deeral Indigenous Youth Parliament
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Objective 1
Assembly and 
Committee Support
To support the Legislative Assembly (and its committees and Members) in fulfilling its functions 
within the institution of Parliament to:

 » make law (and supervise delegated law making)

 » approve and scrutinise the State’s finances

 » scrutinise the actions of executive government (and oversight independent bodies), and

 » provide a forum for debate and grievance.

To achieve this objective, Parliamentary Service resources have been allocated to provide Members 
with a range of procedural, research, advisory and information services. These resources are 
primarily delivered through the following Parliamentary Service offices and Divisions:

 » the Office of the Speaker

 » the Office of the Clerk

 » the Office of the Deputy Clerk, and

 » the Assembly and Committee Services Division.

In 2020-21 the Assembly and Committee Services Division comprised the following three Service 
Areas:

 » Chamber, Education and Communication Services;

 » Committee Office (including Office of the Parliamentary Crime and Corruption Commissioner), 
and

 » Parliamentary Reporting and Broadcasting Service (Hansard).

The key performance indicators for Objective 1 relate to the extent to which the quantity,  
quality, timeliness and cost of specified services provided by each of the service areas meet the 
agreed standards and targets. The methods of measurement include client survey, benchmarking, 
internal assessment through information management systems and external assessment through 
audit reports.

Key performance indicators for Objective 1 are set out in the table on page 25.
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Objective 1 Highlights 

PARLIAMENTARY REPORTING AND BROADCASTING SERVICE (HANSARD)

COMMITTEE OFFICE

TABLE OFFICE

559.6799%
Percentage of Hansard 
transcripts published on time Total audio hours transcribed

121 hearings and briefings 169 participants participating 
remotely

441 submissions considered 

1,051
Questions on Notice processed

2,492
Tabled Papers and Reports registered
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Objective 1 is supported by the following offices and 
Service Areas:

Office of the Speaker
The Office of the Speaker provides executive, 
administrative and protocol support to the Speaker of  
the Legislative Assembly in relation to the Speaker’s 
various roles.

Office of the Clerk
The Office of the Clerk provides timely and accurate 
support to the Clerk of the Parliament to discharge his 
responsibilities as the Principal Officer of the Legislative 
Assembly, Chief Executive Officer of the Parliamentary 
Service, and Accountable Officer for the Parliamentary 
Service and the Legislative Assembly. The office also takes 
carriage of petitions and the Register of Interests.

Office of the Deputy Clerk
The Office of the Deputy Clerk provides timely and 
accurate support to the Deputy Clerk to discharge his 
responsibilities as head of the Assembly and Committee 
Services Division.

Chamber, Education and 
Communication Services
This area comprises two discrete offices –  
the Table Office and Parliamentary Education  
and Communication. 

Table Office
The Table Office provides impartial advice, parliamentary 
information and administrative support services to assist 
the effective operations of the Legislative Assembly.

The Table Office is responsible for:

• maintaining accurate information on all business 
before the Assembly

• processing of legislation through the Assembly 
(introduction, amendment and presentation for  
royal assent)

• monitoring bills, questions, motions and petitions to 
ensure compliance with the rules of the Assembly

• liaising with Members, ministerial offices and public 
sector entities on the tabling of documents

• providing safe custody and maintenance of and access 
to parliamentary records

• conducting research and providing advice on 
parliamentary procedural matters, and 

• managing the Queensland Parliamentary Internship 
Program, where university students undertake a 
nominated research project under the supervision 
of a Member of Parliament or senior officer of the 
Parliamentary Service.

Committee Office
The Legislative Assembly establishes parliamentary 
committees to assist it to fulfil its functions. Committees 
consider legislation, inquire into specific issues, oversee 
specified independent entities, reporting back to the 
Parliament. They provide a forum for investigation into 
matters of public importance and give Members the 
opportunity to deepen their knowledge of such issues. 
Committee inquiries enhance the democratic process 
by taking the work of the Parliament to the people 
and offering a direct, transparent way to input into its 
decisions. 

A report on the operation of committees during 2020-21 is 
contained on page 21.

Staff in the Committee Office are responsible for:

• providing advice and support to each committee in the 
conduct of its inquiries, and fulfilment of its functions 
more generally

• maintaining each committee’s records system
• planning and organising for the collection, analysis and 

reporting of information and evidence 
• business improvement activities, and
• activities aimed at increasing the awareness of the 

role of the Parliament and the committee system.

Parliamentary Reporting and 
Broadcasting Service (Hansard)
The primary role of the Parliamentary Reporting and 
Broadcasting Service is to produce an accurate, timely and 
accessible record of the proceedings of the Parliament 
and Parliamentary Committees and the internet broadcast 
of proceedings of Parliament and its committees. Other 
services provided include:

• production of an index to the debates of  
the Parliament

• production of Members’ speeches, and
• transcription and editorial services to other 

parliamentary service areas.
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Office of the Parliamentary Crime and 
Corruption Commissioner
Under the Crime and Corruption Act 2001, the primary role 
of the Parliamentary Crime and Corruption Commissioner 
is to assist the Parliamentary Crime and Corruption 
Committee (PCCC) in enhancing the accountability of the 
Crime and Corruption Commission (CCC) by undertaking 
a range of important functions on behalf of, and reporting 
back to, the PCCC.

The functions of the Parliamentary Commissioner, as 
required by the PCCC, include:

• conducting audits of the records, operational files and 
other material held by the CCC

• investigating complaints made against the CCC 
(including allegations of possible unauthorised 
disclosure of confidential information)

• inspecting the register of confidential information kept 
by the CCC, and

• previewing reports by the CCC to the PCCC.
In certain circumstances, the Parliamentary Commissioner 
can also investigate on their own initiative complaints 
about the CCC or a CCC officer, and similar matters.

The Parliamentary Commissioner has further mandatory 
responsibilities under the Crime and Corruption Act 2001 
and the Police Powers and Responsibilities Act 2000 
including the conduct of an annual review of intelligence 
data in the possession of the CCC and the Queensland 
Police Service and regular audits and inspections of the 
records of the CCC to determine the extent of compliance 
with legislative requirements relating to surveillance device 
warrants, controlled operations and assumed identities.

With the CCC declared an eligible agency under 
Commonwealth telecommunications legislation, the 
Parliamentary Commissioner is the inspection entity 
under the Telecommunications Interception Act 2009. 
This involves six-monthly inspections of the CCC’s 
telecommunications interception records and provision of 
an annual report to the Queensland Attorney-General.
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Report on 
parliamentary 
committee activities 
for 2020-21

Queensland’s parliamentary 
committee system was significantly 
reformed in August 2011 in order to 
improve openness and accountability, 
better connect the work of Parliament 
with its committees, and increase the 
levels of public consultation within 
Queensland’s legislative process. The 
reforms have seen an increase in the 
volume of committee work undertaken 
and the public having greater input 
into matters that are debated by 
the Parliament. An overview of the 
committee work conducted during the 
year is detailed below.

In January 2020, portfolio committees 
commenced a new responsibility of 
reporting to the Parliament on the 
compliance of legislation with the 
Human Rights Act 2019. 

The Parliament’s portfolio committees 
undertook 46 formal inquiries, which 
comprised:

• 32 inquiries into bills that were 
introduced in the Parliament and 
then referred to committees for 
examination

• 4 inquiries on matters of 
community importance referred by 
the Parliament

• 9 inquiries as part of fulfilling 
statutory oversight, public 
accounts and public works 
responsibilities, and

• 1 inquiry initiated by a committee 
under self-referral powers.

A total of 327 portfolio committee 
hearings, briefings and meetings  
were held during the year. These 
comprised 121 hearings and briefings 
(mostly held in public) and 206 
private meetings. 

Committee inquiries are a key 
avenue for public consultation and 
engagement between the public 
and the Parliament, and support the 
Parliament to scrutinise government 
activity. Committees received and 
considered 441 submissions, and 
heard evidence from 1,060 persons. 
These 1,060 persons comprised 417 
representatives of organisations, 151 
individuals and 492 public servants. 

The government responded to 10 
committee bill inquiry reports in 
2020-21, all within the legislated 
timeframe. There were a total of 34 
recommendations contained in those 
reports (other than that the bill be 
passed or not passed). The public 
consultation as outlined above greatly 
contributed to the formulation of 
these recommendations. 

One indicator of the influence of 
portfolio committees is the number  
of recommendations contained in 
inquiry reports that were agreed 
to by the government. The 34 
recommendations comprised 17 
proposing legislative amendments, 
and 17 other recommendations.

Of all bill inquiries for which 
government responses were received 
in 2020-21:

• of 17 proposed legislative 
amendments, 13 were accepted 
by the government (76%), and

• of 17 other recommendations, 13 
were accepted by the government 
(76%).

Committees tabled a total of 103 
publications, mostly reports, in the 
Parliament during 2020-21.

The review of budget estimates for 
the 2020-21 appropriations was 
conducted by the seven portfolio 
committees during the financial 
year. Each portfolio committee 
is responsible for examining the 
proposed expenditures of the 
Government departments for their 
respective areas of responsibility, and 
advising the Parliament accordingly. 
Seven estimates hearings were held 
from 7 to 15 December 2020 with 
each of the committees reporting 
back to Parliament in February 2021.

Committees conducted 32 Bill 
inquiries, including the Meriba 
Omasker Kaziw Kazipa (Torres Strait 
Islander Traditional Child Rearing 
Practice) Bill 2020, the Waste 
Reduction and Recycling (Plastic 
Items) Bill 2020, the Youth Justice 
and other Legislation Amendment Bill 
2021 and the Nature Conservation 
and Other Legislation (Indigenous 
Joint Management) Amendment Bill 
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2020, the Voluntary Assisted Dying 
Bill 2021, the COVID-19 Emergency 
Response and Other Legislation 
Amendment Bill 2021 and the Criminal 
Code (Consent and Mistake of Fact) 
and Other Legislation Amendment Bill 
2020.

In 2020-21 committees also 
commenced a number of inquiries 
into matters of public interest 
including serious vilification and hate 
crimes, vehicle safety, standards 
and technology including engine 
immobiliser technology, and social 
isolation and loneliness. They also 
reviewed a number of Auditor-General 
reports, and reported on their reviews 
to the Parliament. A number of 
committees undertook proceedings 
in support of their responsibility for 
oversight of specific independent 
entities, including the Parliamentary 
Crime and Corruption Committee 
commencing an inquiry into the 
Crime and Corruption Commission’s 
investigation of former councillors 
of Logan City Council and related 
matters. 

An important function of committees 
is to enhance the democratic process 
by taking the work of the Parliament 
to the people and giving them a direct 
way to input into its decisions. 

As in 2019-20, in 2020-21 the 
COVID-19 pandemic greatly reduced 
the amount of committee travel 
undertaken. However, in addition 
to Brisbane hearings committee 
proceedings were held in the Torres 
Strait, Townsville, Cairns, Yeppoon, 
Mount Isa and Moreton Island.

The use of video conferencing by 
parliamentary committees has 
become ‘business as usual’ over the 
past eighteen months, with 169 
participants participating remotely in 
21 committee proceedings held on the 
Parliamentary precinct, in 2020-21.

The volume of committee work 
completed and the outcomes 
achieved during 2020-21 continues 
to demonstrate that parliamentary 
committees are supporting 
parliamentary scrutiny of government 
activity, and contributing to an 
open, consultative and modern 
parliamentary system.

Image: Legal Affairs and Safety Committee – Mount Isa, 18 March 2021
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Image: State Development and Regional Industries Committee vist to Moreton Island, March 2021

Public consultation by 
parliamentary committees

A number of strategies have been implemented since  
2011 to promote Queensland’s committee inquiry process 
and raise awareness of how Queenslanders can be 
involved with committee inquiries and influence decision 
making, including:

• publishing inquiriy details on the Parliament’s website
• issuing media releases
• utilising the Parliament’s social media channels
• chairs giving media interviews
• identifying persons and groups who may be interested 

in each particular inquiry and directly contacting those 
persons with information about the inquiry and how 
they can participate

• sending information about committee activities to 
committee subscriber email alert lists, including when 
submissions are invited and public proceedings held

• where an inquiry may have a focus in a particular 
regional area, advertisements may be placed in 
relevant local community newspapers, and

• placing advertisements and articles in trade journals 
and publications relevant to a committee inquiry topic.

Committee hearings held at Parliament House are 
generally broadcast live on ‘Parliament.TV’ via the 
Parliament’s website, and can be watched on replay 
following the hearing. The live broadcast allows people 
across Queensland with an interest in particular inquiries 
to follow hearings and events as they occur. Transcripts of 
public proceedings are also published. Where appropriate, 
the Parliament’s Indigenous Liaison Officer may assist 
in raising awareness of inquiries amongst First Nations 
people and communities, supporting consultation 
activities, and providing assistance to those who may wish 
to participate.

Implementation of new videoconferencing capacity in 
February 2020 was timely. The COVID-19 pandemic has 
seen an increased use of video conferencing for committee 
proceedings. As detailed above, the new capacity has 
ensured committees can continue to meet, and to 
hear from people all around the state, the country, and 
internationally, fulfilling their functions while maintaining 
social distancing. 

-~--------------'_;_,. '·? 
~~~~~ 
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Major Initiatives

Key projects Overview Status

Transition from 56th to 57th 
Parliament

Ceremonial Opening of Parliament and New Members Induction Complete

Provide support for the 
Opening of the 57th Parliament

Senior Parliamentary Officer (Bills and Research) was the 
project manager for this project. Table Office also managed 
procedural aspects of the Opening of the Parliament. 

Complete

Coordinate and manage 
Queensland Parliamentary 
Research Internship Program

University students undertake a nominated research project 
under the supervision of a Member of Parliament or senior 
officer of the Parliamentary Service

Complete

Continuous review and update 
of procedures, manuals 
and templates to enhance 
consistency and enable more 
efficient resource allocation 
and committee support

May 2020 and January 2021 editions of the Committee Office 
practice and procedures manual were published. 

Committee Office Style Guide revised and republished 
December 2021.

Revised processes for Technical Scrutiny advice to committees 
were implemented.

Ongoing

Map business processes Completed in December 2020. Seven key processes mapped, 
with outcomes informing business requirement specifications, 
piloting of a group email distribution system, updates to 
checklists and revised or new processes being documented. 

December 2020

Review implementation of 
changes to committee support 
arising from the Human Rights 
Act 2019

Review completed November 2020. Ongoing review and 
planning for 2022 continues.

October 2020

Benchmark services against 
comparable organisations

Completed, and informing business process improvement work. February 2021

Implement standardised 
processes to support 
committee performance of 
statutory oversight function

Good Practice Guide to Oversight published in March 2021, 
and Oversight Officer role working across all committee 
secretariats.

December 2020

Continue to improve committee 
data quality, collection 
methodology and reporting 
systems

Phase 1 and 2 were completed in 2020. Ongoing continual 
improvement.

Ongoing

Develop and implement 
committee engagement 
practice guide

Good Practice Guide to Communication and Engagement 
published to staff in February 2021. Pending publication  
to Members.

October 2020

Develop and implement 
improved processes for making 
and managing submissions to 
committee inquiries

Trialling of data analysis software commenced. Online 
submission portal used for some inquiries. Proposal for 
custom e-submissions system was developed and is under 
consideration in context of organisational priorities.

February 2021
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Measures 2020–21 Target 2020–21 Actual

Table Office Measures
Number of Questions on Notice processed 1,500 1,051

Number of Tabled Papers and Reports registered/archived 2,200 2,492

Committee Office
Number of Parliamentary Committee publications tabled 60 103

Parliamentary Reporting and Broadcasting Service (Hansard)
Internet publication of the first two hours of proceedings (Hansard) 
each sitting day

2.30pm each sitting 
day

99%

Looking ahead

Key Performance Indicators

Initiatives in 2021–22 include:
Table Office

• Update of the Tabled Papers Database
• Digitisation and publication of historic tabled papers between 1955 and 1987.

Committee Office
• An event to mark the 10 year anniversary of the portfolio committee system will be held in October 2021.  

A panel of current and former Members of Parliament including those who worked on the Committee System  
Review Committee in 2010, will participate in a live, interactive ‘Q&A’ session, broadcast via the Parliament’s 
facebook account. 

• Work will continue on implementing good practice communication and engagement, including a stakeholder survey.
• Committee report structures and style will be evaluated and refined.
• Planning for Committee hearing rooms and office accommodation ahead of the Annexe refurbishments scheduled for 

2022-23 will be progressed.
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To achieve this objective, Parliamentary Service resources have been allocated to support electorate 
offices and officers to deliver resources to Members, as determined by the Remuneration Tribunal 
and the Speaker.

These resources and services are primarily delivered through:

 » Corporate and Electorate Services Division

 » Property and Facility Services Division, and

 » Parliamentary Library and Research Service.

The key performance indicators for Objective 2 relate to the extent to which the quantity, quality, 
timeliness and cost of specified services provided by each of the relevant service areas meet the 
agreed standards and targets. The methods of measurement include client surveys, benchmarking, 
and internal self-assessment through information management systems and external assessment 
through audit reports.

Key performance indicators for Objective 2 are set out in the table on page 32. 

Objective 2 
Member Support
To support members of the Legislative Assembly in their communication with and representation  
of constituents.



QUEENSLAND PARLIAMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2020–21

27

Objective Highlights 

HUMAN RESOURCE SERVICES

FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

PARLIAMENTARY LIBRARY AND RESEARCH SERVICES 

100%99%
Percentage 
accuracy in payroll

Percentage of Shared Services’ 
clients satisfied with services 

2,681 travel bookings & 
claims processed

38 tender processes managed 14,652 invoices processed

4,155
Research and Information requests 
from individual clients

1,224
 Client information briefs prepared
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Objective 2 is supported by the following service areas:

Corporate and Electorate 
Services Division 
Office of the Director of Corporate 
Services and Electorate Office Liaison
This office is responsible for:

• leading the Corporate and Electorate Services Division 
including Financial and Administrative Services, Human 
Resource Services, and Members’ Executive Support

• developing and monitoring corporate governance 
strategies within the Parliamentary Service (including 
management planning, systems and standards)

• managing the administration of the Members’ 
Remuneration Handbook, and

• leading and promoting liaison activities to deliver 
business systems and support networks for electorate 
staff located throughout Queensland.

Human Resource Services
Human Resource Services provides human resource 
and industrial relations services to Members and the 
Parliamentary Service, including:

• payroll and personnel administration 
• recruitment selection and induction 
• an Employee Assistance Service, and 
• rehabilitation coordination.

Financial and Administrative Services
Financial and Administrative Services provides services 
and support for the following:

• financial accounting
• budget management
• Members’ travel entitlements 
• Members’ electorate and communication allowance
• corporate travel arrangements
• procurement and goods receiving
• asset and inventory management
• mobile phone administration 
• insurance
• financial information systems, and
• internal control systems

Information Services 
Division 
Parliamentary Library and Research 
Service
The Parliamentary Library and Research Service provides a 
confidential and impartial research service for all Members 
of Parliament and their staff to assist them in performing 
their parliamentary and constituency roles.

The Parliamentary Library has an expert team of  
research and information specialists, as well as quality 
resources specifically selected to meet the information 
needs of Members.

Personalised and timely research can be requested on any 
topic of interest to members to assist with their:

• parliamentary debates and speeches
• committee roles
• public interest matters
• constituency issues, and
• policy development.

Members receive email alerts, containing the latest 
newspaper, television and radio clips, each weekday 
morning and afternoon. Customised alerts on particular 
areas of interest may be requested. All Members may 
borrow books, magazines and journals. Assistance with 
using the Library’s services is available to all Members and 
their staff.

The Parliamentary Library’s Library Online is available via 
the Parliament’s website and intranet. Available resources 
include:

• TV and radio clips of news and current affairs programs
• full text newspaper and journal articles
• government documents
• current affairs, legal, and research databases
• books, journals, maps, and 
• economic and social statistical data.
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Property and Facility 
Services Division
Electorate Accommodation and 
Members’ Services
Electorate Accommodation and Member’s Services is 
responsible for:

• providing and maintaining electorate offices for all 
Members of the Legislative Assembly

• development of relevant policies, and
• providing advice to Members on their electorate  

office entitlements.
In 2020-21 there were 97 electorate offices across 
Queensland - one in each of the 93 state electorates.

Note* Two electorates have two offices within their 
boundary due to the size of the electorate.

All offices are leased, furnished and maintained in 
accordance with the Members’ Remuneration Handbook.

Service Standards – Effectiveness Measures
Members of Parliament are surveyed each year on the performance of the Parliamentary Service. Figures on the 
percentage of Members satisfied with services provided (satisfied/very satisfied) for the Parliamentary Service 
as a whole and for individual Service Areas and Offices are presented below.

Overall rating for the  
Parliamentary Service
In March 2021, the percentage of Members satisfied 
with the performance of the Parliamentary Service as a 
whole in fulfilling its key purpose was 94%.

Overall rating by Service Area  
and Office
Committee Office = 88%

Electorate Accommodation Services = 84%

Financial and Administrative Services = 94%

Human Resource Services = 98%

Information Technology Services = 78%

Members Executive Support = 82%

Office of the Clerk = 94%

Parliamentary Catering Services = 90%

Parliamentary Education and Communications = 90%

Parliamentary Library = 90%

Parliamentary Reporting Service = 96%

Property Services = 96%

Security and Attendant Services = 98%

Table Office = 98%
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Key projects Overview Status

Review and update of corporate 
Risk Registers 

During 2020-21 a corporate wide initiative was delivered 
to provide targeted risk management training to key staff 
and review and update operational risk registers across 
the Service.

Complete

Electorate Office COVID-Safe Plan The COVID-Safe Plan: Queensland Electorate Offices 
establishes a range of COVID-Safe protocols to guide 
the safe operation of electorate offices’ both as a 
traditional workplace, and also as a public meeting space 
for Members, staff and constituents.

Complete

To coordinate activities associated 
with the annual review policy of the 
Parliamentary Service

To ensure the completion of the annual review process 
within the Parliamentary Service.

Complete

To co-ordinate induction courses 
for new Parliament House and 
Electorate Office staff

The holding of induction courses in 2021 was disrupted 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic with only one course 
being able to be completed.

Partially completed

Commence a personnel file 
digitisation project to incorporate 
hard copy files into the records 
management system

The first stage of the project is to digitise the “hard 
copy” files of existing staff and incporate them into the 
corporate records management system.

Complete

To manage the transition of 
Queensland Audit Office long 
service leave accruals from a seven 
day accrual basis to a five day 
accrual basis

Conversion of the long service leave records of the 
Queensland Audit Office from being based on a 7 day 
leave accrual to a 5 day leave accrual.

Complete

Electronic forms Develop online forms to improve administrative 
efficiencies for MPs, electorate officers and other 
Parliamentary Service officers.

Online forms have 
been developed 
and a trial period 
involving nine MPs 
is complete. To be 
fully implemented 
in 2021/22.

2020 Election Transition old and new MPs and provide induction 
training to new MPs and electorate officers.

Complete

Selection and implementation of  
an new integrated Library 
Management System

Associated projects included :

• data conversion of 7 million+ records
• discovery layer searching
• integration of third party subscription databases
• installation of IT single sign on protocols, and
• library staff upskilling and retraining.

Complete

Removal and reinstatement of the 
O’Donovan and Members Reading 
Room collections in the Old House 
to accommodate the installation of 
a new Fire Suppression system (this 
involved the temporary relocation of 
12,000 historical volumes)

Recant of the O’Donovan and Members Reading Room 
collections in September 2020 provided opportunities to 
carefully audit the condition of the historical collections, 
and make recommendations for the conservation and 
repair of selected items.

Complete

Major initiatives
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Displays and research support 
to commemorate significant 
parliamentary milestones

An historical seminar, co-hosted by the Queensland 
Parliament and The Royal Historical Society of 
Queensland in February 2021, commemorated the 
legacy of former premier Sir Samuel Griffith. Research 
support and informative displays facilitated a very 
successful event.

Complete

An event to mark the 30th anniversary of the 
introduction of the Queensland Electoral Districts Act 
1991 was held in April 2021.

Complete

AIP Forward Years Planning Strategic leasing review to identify offices that most 
need to relocate due to actual office deficiencies.

Annual Reviews in 
Q1

Security Improvement Vehicle 
Mitigation Rollout

Rollout of VMD to identified high risk offices. 80% Complete

Security Improvement Electronic 
Monitoring

Rollout of improved alarm system, electronic locking and 
remote access.

New systems 
installed in all new 
EO sites during 
fitout

Security Programming Audit Due to the large staff turnover, there is an identified 
need to update all site contact call out information.

New process now 
in place

Security Duress Testing Audit Identified need to monitor the monthly testing of the 
duress actuators, sites identified as missing the monthly 
testing are notified. 

Monthly testing 
conducted
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Key Performance Indicators 

Measures 2020–21 
Target

2020–21 
Actual

Human Resource Services
Percentage accuracy in payroll production 99% 99%

Percentage of Shared Services’ clients satisfied with services (satisfied/very 
satisfied)

95% 100%

Financial and Administrative Services
Combined percentage of vendor and customer payments within trading terms 90% 90%

Number of travel bookings and travel claims processed 2,700 2,681

Number of individualised training sessions provided to electorate offices 20 29

Number of accounts payable and receivable invoices processed 16,000 14,652

Number of tender processes managed 25 38

Number of asset acquisitions and disposals managed 170 282

Parliamentary Library and Research Services 
Research and information requests from individual clients 5,500 4,155

Number of client information briefs in response to individual client requests 1,000 1,224

Number of times web-based Library Online accessed by clients including 
research staff (includes Alert usage)

>400,000 384,230*

Percentage of individual research/information responses meeting agreed 
deadlines

>98% >99%

Electorate Accommodation Services
Number of Offices inspected for policy compliance (standards, WH&S etc) 30 16

Number of relocation/refurbishment projects completed 2 relocations

1 refurbishment

5 relocations

2 refurbishments

*Transition to a new Library Management System in April 2021 impacted on usage as clients experienced some outage 
due to new IT single sign on protocols. These issues have been remediated.
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Looking ahead

Initiatives in 2021–22 include:

Corporate Services
• Roll-out of Members’ Online Travel Claims portal 

using Smartphone and desktop Apps to improve user 
experience and efficiency of claim processing. 

• Develop specifications and options for an online 
training portal to assist induction and delivery of 
training of electorate staff across the State.

Human Resource Services
• Coordinate enterprise bargaining arrangements for the 

Parliamentary Service.
• To investigate business automation improvements 

including the use of Employee Self Service (ESS) by 
electorate office staff and the use of online claim 
forms either through Aurion or another software 
system such as Service Now.

• Implement stage two of Single Touch Payroll (STP 2) 
for the Parliamentary Service and shared  
services agencies.

• To implement Employee Self Service (ESS) for the 
Office of the Governor.

• Complete the personnel file digitisation project 
to incorporate hard copy files into the records 
management system.

Financial and Administrative Services
• Fully implement online forms to improve administrative 

efficiencies for MPs, electorate officers and other 
Parliamentary Service officers.

• Review Members’ Services to improve delivery 
of services.

• Investigate options to upgrade the existing Financial 
Management Information System.

• Policy work in relation to the Parliamentary Services’ 
Significant Procurement Plan and Financial Delegations.

Parliamentary Library and Research Service
• Background research and design of display banners 

are being undertaken to support an Australian Studies 
of Parliament Group (ASPG) event on 30 August 2021, 
commemorating the passing of former premier TJ Ryan 
100 years ago.

• A commemorative event is planned to mark the 
100th anniversary of the abolition of the Queensland 
Legislative Council (the former Upper House) in  
March 2022.

• Reduction of the hardcopy collections and stack areas 
on Level 6 is underway to accommodate new staff 
office spaces which will be completed by November 
2021. New library compactus will be installed, and 
a major rearrangement of the collection will be 
completed by the end of the year.

• The re-opening of the O’Donovan Library for regular 
High Tea tours and displays will feature the newly 
restored heritage Stanford map collection.

Electorate Accommodation Services
• Continue with the approved Electorate Office 

Relocation/Refurbishment Program.
• Electorate Office Security Upgrades.
• Electorate Office Asset Condition Audits.
• Annual Lease Renewal Forecasting.
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Objective 3   
Service provision
To provide information, corporate and facility management services that better enables Members 
of Parliament and Parliamentary Service officers to achieve their objectives.

To achieve this objective, Parliamentary Service resources have been allocated to:

 » provide quality administrative support services

 » provide fit for purpose parliamentary accommodation

 » connect people, processes and technology, and

 » maintain a professional and progressive Parliamentary Service.

These resources and services are primarily delivered through the following Parliamentary  
Service Divisions:

 » Information Services Division

 » Corporate and Electorate Services Division, and 

 » Property and Facility Services Division.

The key performance indicators for Objective 3 relate to the extent to which the quantity, quality, 
timeliness and cost of specified services provided by each of the relevant service areas meet the 
agreed standards and targets. The methods of measurement include client surveys, benchmarking, 
and internal self-assessment through information management systems and external assessment 
through audit reports.

Key performance indicators for Objective 3 are set out in the table on page 45.
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Objective Highlights 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES

PROPERTY AND FACILITY SERVICES DIVISION

SECURITY AND ATTENDANT SERVICES 

71799.8%
Network availability 
during business hours Number of desktops supported

1,409 un-planned maintenance 
work requests completed

3,847 functions held 33,369 guests to the precinct

63,616
visitors processed through security 
scanning procedures

428
school tours conducted

■■ aaaaa aaaaaaa aaaaaaa aaaaaaa 
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Objective 3 is supported by the following 
Service Areas:

Information Services 
Division
Information Technology Services
Information Technology Services is responsible for:

• The provision, management and maintenance of 
desktop, network and telephony services (including 
the technology infrastructure) to support the 
operation of the Parliamentary Service, electorate 
offices, and the Legislative Assembly

• Investigating, assessing and, when appropriate, 
implementing new or emerging technologies to ensure 
information technology systems remain effective, and

• Providing support and advice to Members of 
Parliament and Parliamentary Service staff on 
information technology systems and services.

Records Management
The Records Management area leads the implementation 
of best practice records management, ensuring the 
systematic identification, capture, management and 
retention of the Parliamentary Services’ documents and 
records in an accessible and useable format for as long 
as they are required to meet operational, accountability, 
legislative and cultural requirements.

This area supports best practice records management  
by providing:

• expert advice on the application of recordkeeping best 
practice across the Queensland Parliamentary Service

• management and maintenance of recordkeeping 
control tools, policies, procedures and guidelines

• administration and support for the Electronic 
Document and Recordkeeping System (eDRMS), and

• training for recordkeeping and the eDRMS.

Property and Facility 
Services Division
Property and Facility Services Division
Property and Facility Services is responsible for the 
management of facilities, construction projects and 
maintenance of the parliamentary precinct together with 
the coordination of electorate office accommodation 
for Members. Property Services engages a range of 
contractors to assist in meeting the accommodation needs 
of the Parliament within the parliamentary precinct and 
also in 97 electorate offices across the state.

Security and Attendant Services
Security and Attendant Services is responsible for the 
provision of 24/7 manned security and access control.
Other services includes:

• Coordination of Emergency response 
• Building announcements 
• Parliamentary chamber services 
• Building reception services (including mail distribution 

and switchboard)
• First Aid services
• School, Public and Group tours
• Breakdown and maintenance reporting
• Gift shop sales
• Lost Property
• Dry Cleaning
• Car Parking, and
• Key Management

Catering Services
Catering Services provides a range of dining, meeting room 
and event spaces throughout the parliamentary precinct 
for Members, guests, and approved clients.

In addition, Catering provides support to Members, Former 
Members, Ministers and the Premier for set-up and AV for 
meeting rooms, internal bookings, formal announcements, 
tours, and QPS-hosted events. 

Catering Services also provides a range of gift and 
souvenir products available for purchase from the  
Gift Shop.
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Maintaining a professional and 
progressive Parliamentary Service
The Queensland Parliamentary Service is committed to 
developing and improving the services it delivers. It is 
also committed to upholding its corporate values, namely 
independence and integrity, innovation and diversity, and 
commitment and respect.

Objective 3 includes recognition of the importance of 
all Parliamentary Service staff and of engaging with, 
and investing in the development of those staff, both 
individually and collectively. Executive management has 
established a range of key strategies and initiatives 
designed to support the achievement of this goal through, 
for example:

• sound communication
• performance planning and review
• training and professional development
• provision of equal opportunity and support systems for 

staff, and
• job satisfaction.

Communication strategies
Consultative Committee
Meetings between management and unions are conducted 
via the Parliamentary Service Local Consultative 
Committee (LCC), established under the relevant 
enterprise bargaining agreement.

Parliamentary Service staff located at Parliament House 
are covered by the State Government Entities Certified 
Agreement 2019 (the Core Agreement). A consultative 
committee is established under that Agreement. 

Electorate Office Staff are covered by a separate 
Agreement which has primarily the same features as the 
Core Agreement plus some additional Electorate Office 
staff specific items which have been previously agreed.

An Agreement was finalised with Together Queensland 
and was certified by the Queensland Industrial Relations 
Commission in August 2020.

The wage increases provided for in the Electorate Office 
Staff Agreement are the same as those provided for in the 
Core Agreement.

Intranet
The Parliamentary Service Intranet contains information 
relevant to Members of Parliament as well as Parliamentary 
Service staff. All corporate policies and forms are provided, 
as well as information about and contact details for all 
service areas.

A ‘Notice Board’ gives advice of all events in which the 
Parliament is involved in the coming weeks. ‘Parliamentary 
Events’ advises of functions and activities currently taking 
place in the parliamentary precinct. A calendar advises 
of functions and activities booked to take place in the 
coming months.

Workforce management
The Parliamentary Service monitors its recruitment and 
selection activities and a variety of key indicators to 
ensure that the Service continues to attract quality 
applicants. The Parliamentary Service generally attracts 
significant numbers of applicants for positions that are 
advertised, and processes vacancies in a timely manner.

Performance management is undertaken for the majority of 
staff within the agency to ensure individual performance is 
regularly monitored.

The Parliamentary Service’s induction program is available 
for all staff including staff located in Members’ electorate 
offices. For staff located within the parliamentary 
precinct, the induction program is a two stage process 
with individual inductions conducted within 24 hours 
of staff commencing work and a one day induction 
program held within four months of staff commencing. 
Induction processes for electorate office staff are primarily 
conducted electronically with the aim being to complete 
the induction process within two working days of the 
officer commencing employment.

The Parliamentary Service promotes work life balance for 
staff through a variety of initiatives including a system 
of variable working hours to assist staff to manage their 
working time, purchased leave arrangements, flexibility 
with rostered days off, part-time employment, job sharing 
arrangements, work from home arrangements and casual 
employment where it is suitable.

Training and professional development 
The Parliamentary Service considers training and 
professional development a high corporate priority and 
manages this centrally via the Executive Management 
Group in order to:

• ensure training is aligned to corporate goals and 
objectives, and

• maximise value for money spent on training and 
professional development across the organisation.

A Training and Development Plan for the Parliamentary 
Service is developed each year to address the training 
needs of all staff. Corporate training activities are also 
addressed through the plan each year. Some of the 
training undertaken in 2020-21 in accordance with the 
training and development plan included:

• Mental Health Resilience training
• Writing and research skills workshop
• Electorate Office staff induction training
• New Members Induction 
• Procurement training
• ServiceNow training
• Leadership/management training, and 
• Project Management training.
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Conferences and seminars
Some of the conferences and seminars attended by staff 
during 2020-21 included:

• Disaster Management Conference
• CPA Congress (on-line)

It is noted that due to the COVID-19 pandemic attendance 
at conferences and seminars was very limited during the 
financial year.

Opportunity and Support Systems
Equal Employment Opportunity
The Parliamentary Service has a policy of equal 
employment opportunity, which ensures that recruitment 
and selection is based on fairness, equity, open 
competition and selection on merit. The Recruitment  
and Selection Guidelines of the Parliamentary Service 
ensure that: 

• the best person is selected for the job
• the principles of equity and merit are applied
• recruiting strategies are used to attract a wide 

applicant pool all applicants are provided with 
standardised information

• all applicants are assessed against the selection 
criteria

• selection techniques are used fairly, and
• systematically all applicants are entitled to post 

selection feedback, and all information gathered is 
confidential. 

Employee Assistance Program
The Parliamentary Service maintains an Employee 
Assistance Service (EAS) for Members and Parliamentary 
Service staff. 

The EAS has been established to promote the  
wellbeing of Members and staff and to assist those who 
may be experiencing personal or work-related problems 
which are affecting their health, work performance or 
general wellbeing. 

It is a voluntary and confidential professional counselling 
service. The EAS may also act as a support service for 
employees who may be affected by organisational or 
technological changes.

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994
The Code of Conduct guides staff when dealing with 
situations that may arise during the course of their  
duties, particularly those situations that may have an 
ethical dimension. 

The Code is important given that the Parliamentary 
Service provides support to the Parliament, the body to 
which all other public entities in Queensland are ultimately 
accountable. The Code was developed in accordance with 
the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994.

Training in relation to the Code and the Public Sector 
Ethics Act 1994 is undertaken periodically and was 
undertaken for staff located at Parliament House in  
May 2021. 

Training in the Code and the Public Sector Ethics Act 
1994 is included in induction processes for all staff and is 
included in online induction for electorate office staff. 

The provisions of the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 and the 
Code are considered when reviewing and/or developing 
any human resource policies and procedures. 

Any other policies developed within the Parliamentary 
Service are in accord with the provisions of the Code.

Ethics Advice Officers
The Parliamentary Service has an Ethics Advice Officer 
network. The role of Ethics Advice Officer includes:

• being a frontline resource for staff to ask questions, 
raise concerns, report potential breaches of the 
Code of Conduct or misconduct and a Workplace 
Harassment Referral Officer, and

• promoting ethical decision making in the organisation 
by helping their leaders and peers communicate with 
their teams about ethics and maintaining a harassment 
free workplace.
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In 2020–21, 13 staff were issued  
with badges in recognition of their 
length of service. These staff are 
listed opposite.

10-year service

• Susan Ogden 
• Alex Chipizubov
• Jason Freeman
• Monica Turner
• Karen Stokes
• Sean Leader

15-year service

• Anthony Muller
• Mary Westcott
• Megan Mackee
• Phillip Hill
• Avalon Mackellar

Meritorious 
service

In 2020–21, eight staff were issued with badges in recognition of meritorious 
service beyond normal duty for initiative or noteworthy involvement in:

• special projects
• events, or 
• ongoing programs 

that contribute to the functions and services of the Parliamentary Service or 
the morale or welfare of staff. These staff and their service award details are 
outlined below.

Name Service Area Reason for Badge

Andrew Currey Security and Attendant Services
For outstanding customer service as a security officer

Lisa Bugeja HR Services
For work on the Members On-Boarding Workbook for the  
State Election

Sara Carroll Financial and Administrative 
Services

For assistance and coordination of various logistic and 
administrative tasks as part of the electorate office 
telephony replacement project, delivered with challenging 
time constraints in 2020

Sarah Lewin Property and Facility Services

For leading the establishment and implementation of the 
COVID-19 Help Desk service operated by the Committee 
Office to support electorate offices during the lock-down 
period of the pandemic

Rebecca Meehan Committee Office

For project management of the New Members Induction, 
undertaking this project to a high standard with minimal 
supervision.

For exhibiting a high standard of service in relation to both 
her core duties. In particular for utilising her legal skills to 
assist in preparing detailed briefs for counsel in complex 
constitutional matters and civil litigation matters to a very 
high standard in tight timeframes

Melissa Oldfield Parliamentary Reporting and 
Broadcasting Services

For assisting her colleagues with technical assistance and 
support, and establishing procedures, to enable reporting 
staff to work from home during COVID-19

Rebecca Jarman Catering Services
For excellent customer service and leadership in Catering 
Services

Karen Beath Parliamentary Library

For management of the Library’s Customised Alert Service, 
a service of over 1,200+ tailored weekly current awareness 
briefings, to Members, their staff, Committee Office and 
other House staff

20-year service

• Robyn Moore
30-year service

• Craig Atkinson
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The Speaker’s Award and Clerk’s Award 
The Speaker’s Award and Clerk’s Award were introduced in 2008 to acknowledge staff excellence. 
For 2020, the recipients of these awards are listed below.

2020-21 Staff information

Study and Research Assistance Scheme (SARAS)
Officers receiving assistance 19

Permanent retention rate 1 %
Parliamentary precinct staff 90.55%

Electorate office staff 69%

Permanent separation rate 2 %
Parliamentary precinct staff 9.45%

Electorate office staff 31%

Sick leave – average number of days per officer
Parliamentary precinct staff 12.9

Electorate office staff 7.1

Permanent employees still employed for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.
Permanent employees who separated during the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.

Clerk’s Award Shaun Thomas
For excellence in project management of the roll-back of telephony 1.0 and roll-
out of the telephony 2.0 project.

Speaker’s Award Leah Ilott
For excellence in the project management of the Opening of the  
57th Parliament and her concurrent coordination of the Parliamentary 
Internship Program. 

2020-21 Staffing by employment classification and gender table

Number of 
Staff

Male Female % Female

Managerial 33 14 19 57.58

Professional 20 2 18 90.00

Clerical 96 26 70 72.92

Operational 52 32 20 38.46

Technical 1 0 1 100

Electorate 226 58 168 74.34

Total 428* 132 296 69.15

*Total number of actual employees, excluding MPs and vacant positions.
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Major initiatives 

Key projects Overview Status

Migration of Precinct staff to 
Exchange Online

This project involved the migration of all staff 
mailboxes at precinct, from the on-premise 
Exchange Infrastructure to Office 365.

Complete

New Telephony System – Cisco 
WebEx Calling

This project involved the implementation of a 
new telephony platform within the PS, including 
electorate offices.

Complete

Development of a new Tabled 
Papers solution

This project was to develop a new solution for 
Table Papers.

Commenced in 
September 2020, 
and expected to be 
completed by end of 
2021

Chamber Overwatch The project was to implement the Chamber 
Overwatch solution, and resulted in the 
installation of additional security cameras in the 
Legislative Assembly chamber.

Complete

Remediation of ITSM Module in 
ServiceNow

This project was to remediate the Information 
Technology Service Management (ITSM) module 
within the ServiceNow system.

Complete

Wi-Fi and Edge Switch Replacement This project is to replace the Wi-Fi and Edge 
Switch infrastructure across the PS.

Commenced in 2021, 
and expected to be 
completed by May 2022

Rollout of 4G Backup Service for 
Electorate Offices

This project is to rollout 4G services as a backup 
network link at the electorate offices.

In progress

New Remote Desktop Services 
Solution

This project is to implement a new Remote 
Desktop solution (to replace the existing RDS 
farm) to enable staff to work online remotely.

The solution was 
established in April 2021, 
and deployment will 
commence in the second 
half of 2021

Website (Sitecore) This project is a to develop a refresh of the 
existing PS website.

In progress, and is 
planned to GO LIVE by 
the end of September

Button to report phishing emails As part of its cyber security education and 
awareness program, IT Services continued to 
train staff on identifying phishing campaigns.

A button was installed on computer desktops 
to enable staff to easily report suspicious or 
malicious emails to ITS.

Complete

Vulnerability Management This project saw the implementation of a 
vulnerability management platform within the PS.

Complete

Web Application Firewall (WAF) This project saw the implementation of a WAF 
within the PS environment.

Complete

Development of a Digital 
Preservation Strategy to encompass 
all digital records created and 
received by the parliament

The strategy, once approved, will be accompanied 
by a five-year implementation plan.

Draft strategy is complete

Further consultation will 
be undertaken in 2021-22
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Key projects Overview Status

A framework for the early disposal 
of digitised source records

Identify the artefacts required to take advantage  
of early disposal of source records after 
digitisation, while ensuring that the digital image 
is fit-for-purpose.

Complete

Foundation artefacts will 
be developed in late 2021

Provide expert recordkeeping advice 
to a range of parliamentary projects 
including the implementation of 
Office 365 across the Precinct

Ensure that the requirement of best practice 
recordkeeping are considered during the 
implementation of new technology and  
business practices.

Complete

Opening of 57th Parliament The 57th Parliament resumed for its first sitting 
week from 10am on Tuesday 24th November 
2020. All planning was completed in a short time 
and with minimal issues.

Complete

COVID-19 Management Our cleaning and maintenance teams are 
constantly monitoring advice from Qld Health 
whilst maintaining the precinct and providing 
adequate hygiene services.

Ongoing based on latest 
Qld Health advice

Installation of Sensor Taps New sensor taps deliver an estimated 40% water 
consumption saving on the previous standard flick 
mix tap style fitting.

Complete

Data Cabling replacement in 
Parliament House

Data cables replaced within Parliament House. Complete

Implementation of new maintenance 
strategy – Stage 2

New FMA agreement established with QBuild for 
site based trade staff and services.

Complete

DMX Façade Lighting Project Decorative lighting - Installation of the decorative 
façade lighting fixtures along with a DMX lighting 
control interface for the entire Parliament House 
façade.

Complete

Rainwater catchment, Storage and 
Utilisation

Works have been completed for the upgrade of 
the storm water recovery system with new pumps, 
tanks and filters for the purpose of irrigation and 
cleaning throughout the Parliamentary Annexe.

Complete

Parliament House Windows, Doors 
& Architraves Restoration

Restoration works commenced on heritage listed 
windows, doors and architraves by Baxter’s 
Antique Restorations & Reproductions. Green and 
Red Chamber viewing galleries now complete.

Complete

Parliamentary Annexe Lightning 
Protection

Stowe Australia installed 4 x additional lightning 
protection system test points from the buildings 
structure though to the carpark locations.

Complete

Parliament House Fire Protection Completion of the fire suppression systems 
installed in Parliament House high risk areas:

• Members Reading Room
• O’Donovan Library, and
• Strong Rooms 1&2.

Complete

Develop Emergency Response Plan – 
Quick Guide

Consultation was held with internal and external 
agencies to develop an Quick Guide to deal 
with emergencies specifically in and around the 
Legislative Assembly (Green Chamber).

Complete

Inter-Agency Exercises Parliamentary Security held in partnership with 
Qld Police and ADF 2 training exercises, one with 
Dignitary Protection and one with the bomb trace 
detection dogs from ADF.

Complete
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Key projects Overview Status

Visitor Management New luggage lockers were installed in the Annexe 
foyer and Legislative Assembly public gallery 
foyer to allow the storage of personal items whilst 
visiting the precinct. 

Complete

COVID-19 Management Conducting regular reviews of plans and 
procedures according to the latest advice from 
Qld Health.

Ongoing

Charity food production and 
collections

With the forced closure of catering events due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, the catering service took 
the opportunity to redistribute staff resources 
to assist with food production for charity 
organisations.

Ongoing

Redeployment of casual catering 
staff during lockdown periods or 
event cancellation

Catering FT & Casual staff were utilised during 
the COVID-19 shutdown period to assist with 
other service areas.

Ongoing

Implement/approval of public event 
terms and conditions

Internal review of current T&C’s. Last review 2016. Finalise by October 21

Integrate POS and Event 
Management System

Project started in January 2019. Finalise by September 
2021

FF&E replacement Replaced function chairs and dining tables. Complete May 2021

Committee Table Upgrades Change existing table skirting to fixed curtain rail 
on underside of tables to reduce manpower and 
laundry costs.

Complete October 2020

Operational roles restructure Trial period of restructured operational roles in 
front of house.

November 20 to 
November 21

COVID-19 Food Handling and 
Service Changes

• All Catering staff have completed a COVID-
safe TAFE course and been inducted for 
COVID-safe regulations and operations

• Revised function room capacities recorded 
and displayed to comply with current COVID 
restrictions

• Floor markings placed in high traffic areas to 
display social distancing requirements and 
measurements

• Contactless payments encouraged 
• Dining room events re-released with limited 

numbers and revised service
• Additional cleaning measures implemented
• Removal of all buffet service offerings

Complete and ongoing (as 
required)
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Key Performance Indicators

Measures 2020–21 Target 2020–21 Actual

Information Technology Services
Number of desktops supported (Parliamentary Service, EO & 
Member Laptops)

515 717

Service desk calls resolved within SLA >90% 95%

Network availability during business hours 90% 99.8%

Records Management
Number of internal eDRMS training sessions delivered 12 42

Number of internal Recordkeeping Champion meetings held 10 11

System engagement – users logged in and using the system 88% 88%

Property Services
Percentage of planned Capital Works projects completed 75% 64%

Percentage of planned maintenance works undertaken 95% 100%

Number of un-planned maintenance work requests completed 1,500 1,409

Number of Workplace Health and Safety inspections completed 12 12

Number of Precinct maintenance inspections completed (rooms) 143 130

Catering Services
Total number of functions 700 3847

Total number of guests 30,000 33,369

Security and Attendant Services
Number of precinct visitors processed through security scanning 
procedures

75,000 63,616

Number of school tours conducted 400 428
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Looking ahead
Initiatives in 2021-22 will include:

Information Technology Services
• The Wi-Fi and Edge switch infrastructure across the 

entire Parliamentary Service (precinct and electorate 
offices) will be replaced by May 2022. This is a huge 
project, which will see a lot of work being done to 
design and implement a core networking solution that 
will support the strategy and operations of the PS for 
the next 5 years.

• Work will progress on developing more digital forms, 
establishing a governance framework to oversee and 
accelerate this work.

• The current intranet of the PS will be migrated to a 
cloud-based version called SharePoint Online. The look 
and feel of the new intranet will be the same, albeit 
hosted on a different platform.

Records Management
• Upgrade the electronic recordkeeping system to 

better align with the Microsoft roadmap.
• Complete the Towards a Digital Preservation Strategy 

for Parliamentary Services digital records of long  
term value.

• Develop foundation artefacts to take advantage of 
early disposal of source records after digitisation, 
while ensuring that the digital image is fit-for-purpose.

Property Services
• Continue with the approved Capital Program 
• Continue with the Minor Works Program as approved 

by EMG
• Final planning for stone fence restoration
• Focus on energy efficiency and management
• Continue with Annexe Critical Infrastructure Projects
• Planning and preparation for Annexe major 

refurbishment
• Continue with implementation of new maintenance 

strategy – Stage 2

Security and Attendant Services
• Service Area policy review
• Introduction of an electronic visitor management 

system which will include management of contractors 
on site 

• Major review project is underway for all operational 
manuals and procedures

• Further develop working relationships with partner 
agencies including the various arms of Qld Police and 
Australian Defence Force

• Annual Desktop Exercise with partner agencies
• Emergency preparedness exercises with  

neighbouring stakeholders
• Security Officer training including First Aid and 

Advanced Life Support
• CCTV review to meet refurbishment requirements and 

organisational expectations
• Further develop precinct inspections and maintenance 

reporting through technology

Catering Services
• 3 year growth strategy to expand the Catering 

business, taking into account various disruptions 21-
23 (Refurbishment, Queens Wharf opening, ongoing 
COVID impacts)

• Premium service training program, skills matrix, and PD 
opportunities for catering team

• Marketing program, including 2 year forward planning, 
channel development (newsletters, website content, 
affiliates, paid advertising etc), collaboration with 
external organisations (Brisbane Festival, Griffith 
Conservatorium, etc)

• Events program to develop public engagement and net 
revenue, including ticketed dining and entertainment 
events (High Tea, performances, screenings, Social 
Club, River Fire etc)

• Menu and product development, across all  
business areas

• Exploring opportunities for RAP development within 
the Catering scope, such as procuring First Nations 
suppliers, dining event collaborations with First 
Nations chefs/cooks, and development of a Native 
Foods Garden on the QPS grounds

• Development of risk-assessed events policy and 
related contracts, in consultation with Security/
Attendants, Property Services, FAS/Governance, 
Director of Property & Facility Services, and the Clerk 
of the Parliament

• Exploring partnerships with food and  
beverage sponsors

• Development of stronger engagement with local 
suppliers and farmers. Opportunities for ‘Meet the 
Farmer’ dining events, themed menus to seasons 
and regions, collaboration with sustainable farming 
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Objective 4 
Improving awareness 
of the Parliament
To safeguard, promote and strengthen the important institution of Parliament by improving 
awareness of the role of the Legislative Assembly, its committees and Members in our democratic 
system of government and provide accessibility to information about parliamentary proceedings 
and activities.

To achieve this objective, Parliamentary Service resources have been allocated to the following 
activities:

 » delivering education and awareness programs about the Parliament

 » raising youth awareness of the importance of the institution of Parliament by linking 
parliamentary education programs with the national curriculum for civics education

 » maintaining and improving the regional outreach awareness programs over the term of each 
Parliament and continue to refine and improve their effectiveness, and

 » improving the monitoring of the Parliament’s online presence and website content with a view 
to increased electronic access to parliamentary information.

These resources and services are primarily delivered through the following Service Areas:

 » Chamber, Education and Communication Services

 » Committee Office

 » Parliamentary Reporting and Broadcasting Service (Hansard), and

 »  Information Technology Services.

The key performance indicators for Objective 4 relate to the extent to which the quantity, quality, 
timeliness and cost of specified services provided by each of the relevant service areas meet the 
agreed standards and targets. The methods of measurement include client surveys, benchmarking, 
and internal self-assessment through information management systems and external assessment 
through audit reports.

Key performance indicators for Objective 4 are set out in the table on page 53.
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Objective 4 Highlights

PARLIAMENTARY EDUCATION

MARKETING AND COMMUNICATION

14218
communication  
strategies developed

pubications and promotional 
materials designed and produced

4 Youth Parliament events held 
across Queensland

309 high school  
students participated in 
education programs

307 public service employees 
attended training seminars
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Parliamentary Education and Communication office

Objective 4 is supported by the following 
Service Areas:

The Parliamentary Education and Communications office is responsible for:

• conducting parliamentary education seminars, 
workshops, professional development and youth 
parliaments for educators, secondary school students, 
university students, public servants, Members and 
their staff, and other client groups

• conducting educational outreach programs for  
regional Queenslanders

• developing and maintaining educational and 
information resources for use in educational 
institutions and by the wider community

• managing the Queensland Parliamentary Internship 
Program, where university students undertake a 
nominated research project under the supervision 
of a Member of Parliament or senior officer of the 
Parliamentary Service (conducted by the Table Office)

• ongoing evaluation of current educational programs 
(including school tours) to ensure that they are 
appropriate for the target audience, based on relevant 
school curricula, and consistent with current best 
practice in teaching

• providing advice and education on Indigenous 
protocols

• promoting parliamentary activities and events in order 
to improve community understanding and awareness 
of the role and activities of the Queensland Parliament

• developing and implementing communication 
strategies for service-wide projects or projects 
involving multi-services including engagement with the 
community via parliamentary committee processes

• drafting media releases, speeches and associated 
services for the Parliamentary Service

• supporting effective communication between the 
Parliament and its clients with an emphasis on the 
Parliament’s Internet site and within the Parliamentary 
Service, and

• providing multimedia design and publication  
services for the Parliamentary Service and 
parliamentary committees. 
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Throughout the year, the Parliament provided free 
educational training programs aimed at enhancing 
knowledge and understanding of the processes of 
Parliament and Government in Queensland.

Separate programs are offered for the following groups:

• years 10 to 12 school students studying Legal Studies, 
and

• tertiary students studying Parliament-related subjects.
In 2020-21 the following number of students attended 
these programs:

• 309 Year 10 to 12 students and teachers as part of 16 
school group activities, and

• 49 tertiary students and lecturers as part of two  
group activities.

Regional educational program
In 2020-21, regional education activities were held in 
the Gold Coast and Cairns. The Parliament delivered a 
combination of the following activities:

• a youth parliament, and
• classroom sessions. 

In 2020-21 the following number of students attended 
these programs:

• 153 students, teachers and guests from 16 schools as 
part of the youth parliaments, and

• 342 school students and teachers as part of 8 
classroom sessions.

Education activities
Public Service training seminars
Training is offered to public sector employees on:

• How Parliament works
• The relationship between the Queensland Parliament 

and the Executive, and
• Queensland’s parliamentary committee system and 

participation with committee inquiries (conducted by 
Parliamentary Committees). 

There were 12 of these training seminars held during 2020-
21 with 307 public servants attending.

Teacher professional development 
training 
During 2020-21, nine virtual teacher professional 
development training sessions were held with 129 teachers 
participating from across Queensland. 

The training is designed to enhance their knowledge of 
Queensland’s democratic systems and the processes of 
the Queensland Parliament. These sessions also provide 
practical education resources and demonstrate how to 
conduct a parliamentary committee role play and voting 
activities in their classrooms. 

The program was conducted in conjunction with the 
Supreme Court Library of Queensland, the Electoral 
Commission of Queensland and the Parliamentary 
Education Office (federal). 

Student giving speech at Gold Coast Youth Parliament, June 2021
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Youth parliaments
This year saw the continuation of the Parliament’s youth 
parliament program. 4 youth parliament events were 
facilitated during 2020-21, 2 at Parliament House and 2 in 
regional Queensland. 

A total of 221 young people participated in these youth 
parliaments with each of these events and the dates that 
they occurred listed below:

• 3 September Junior Indigenous Youth Parliament – 
Cairns 

• 28-30 September YMCA Queensland Youth Parliament 
(online)

• 17 December Eric Deeral Indigenous Youth Parliament 
• 3 June Gold Coast Youth Parliament. 

School tours
School groups have visited Parliament House over many 
decades, with these groups generally comprising year five 
and six students. The program of each visit includes:

• a standardised educational presentation aligned to the 
National  
Curriculum which provides an overview of the 
Queensland Parliament, its roles and processes

• a tour of Parliament House, and
• a parliamentary debate role-play activity while seated 

in either the Legislative Assembly Chamber or the 
Legislative Council Chamber (depending on sitting 
days).

In total, 425 school tours were conducted during 2020-
21, comprising 11,021 students and 993 accompanying 
teachers, parents and guardians. There was also one Tafe 
group with 19 students and their teacher.

Education resources
The Parliament has produced an extensive collection 
of educational resources that promote the institution 
of Parliament and raise community awareness and 
understanding of its important role and functions. 

These resources include factsheets, information books, 
classroom activities, brochures and an iBook. All of these 
resources are available to access for free on the Parliament 
website. The iBook is also able to download for free from 
the Apple iTunes store.

Queensland Parliament Research 
Internship Program
During 2020-21, 31 tertiary students participated in the 
Queensland Parliament Research Internship. This annual 
program has been in operation since 1995.

Accessibility to information about 
parliamentary proceedings
The Parliamentary Reporting and Broadcasting Service 
and Information Technology Services also contribute 
to Objective 4 by providing accessibility to information 
about parliamentary proceedings through the provision 
of the Internet broadcast of proceedings in Parliament, 
parliamentary committees and parliamentary special 
events.

Constitutional conventions
In addition to the youth parliaments, the Parliamentary 
Service partnered with the Department of Education and 
Training to conduct school constitutional conventions in 
Townsville and Brisbane.
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Key projects Overview Status

Four year strategic plan for 
education activities during 
the 57th Parliament

Develop four year strategic plan for precinct and  
regional educational activities for the 57th Parliament and 
commence implementation

Four year plan 
completed and 
implementation 
ongoing

Update online educational 
materials including using 
video and interactive 
formats and update online 
educational materials

Creation and delivery of new educational videos explaining 
the roles of the Parliament and how people can engage and 
accompanying educational resources for schools and teachers.

First suite of videos 
ready for launch with 
new website and 
remaining videos on 
track for completion 
in late 2021

Development of Online 
Teacher Professional 
Learning program

Sessions provide teachers and pre-service teachers with an 
enhanced knowledge of the processes of Parliament and also 
demonstrate to them the online resources that are available 
on the Parliament’s website to support their teaching. These 
sessions were delivered in partnership with The Supreme Court 
Library of Queensland, the Electoral Commission of Queensland 
and the Parliamentary Education Office (federal).

Ongoing

Establishment of 
Queensland Parliament 
Teacher’s Advisory Group

Consisting of 8 education professionals from primary and 
secondary contexts to provide insight and advice on the 
development of activities, events and resources in line with 
the curriculum and contemporary classroom practice, as well 
as identifying opportunities for broadening the reach of the 
program, particularly to engage with educators and students in 
regional and remote communities.

Ongoing

Finalise marketing and 
Communications strategy

Development of a strategy to assist the Parliamentary Service 
to meet its strategic vision and objectives.

Completed

Major initiatives
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Initiatives in 2021–22 will include:
Parliamentary Education

• Reviewing the content and delivery of the public service seminars to ensure we meet contemporary standards and 
client needs

• Launch a suite of new on-line educational videos and accompanying teacher resources 
• Research and develop alternative regional educational delivery program options
• Continue to implement the four-year regional education program with upcoming activities to be held in 

Rockhampton, Townsville and Warwick, and
• Continue to expand teacher professional development program in collaborating with ECQ, QSCL and PEO.

Note: In accordance with changes which commenced on 1 July 2021, and the Marketing and Communications Team now 
sits within the Information Services Division.

Looking ahead

Measures 2020–21 Target 2020–21 Actual

Parliamentary Education Measures
Number of educational and liaison activities 45 59

Number of participants attending education and 
liaison activities conducted at Parliament House and 
in regional centres

1,500 1,438

Marketing and Communication Measures
Number of communication strategies (including 
Indigenous protocol and media releases) advice 
developed

10 18

Design and produce publications and promotional 
materials

100 142

Key Performance Indicators
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Reconciliation Action 
Progress Report
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Overview
In 2020, the Parliamentary Service strengthened its 
commitment to reconciliation by implementing an 
Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan. 

The RAP was formally endorsed by Reconciliation Australia 
and subsequently launched by the Speaker of the 
Legislative Assembly and the Clerk of the Parliament in 
September 2020. 

The Innovate RAP contains 14 actions and 69 deliverables, 
grouped within four reconciliation themes of relationships, 
respect, opportunities, and governance. 

A working group was established to oversee the 
implementation of initiatives and ensure staff members are 
engaged in the spirit of reconciliation. The working group 
is co-chaired by the Indigenous Liaison Officer and the 
Executive Officer in the Office of the Speaker.

Snapshot of Achievements
Throughout 2020-2021, a number of initiatives were advanced by the working group, including:

• Organising an Acknowledgment of Country on 23 February 2021, to mark the first sitting day of the 57th Parliament, 
following the October 2020 state election

• Developing and publishing an Acknowledgement of Country statement to provide a consistent protocol for staff to 
follow at significant occasions and events

• As part of National Reconciliation Week in May 2021, a lunchtime seminar for members and staff explored the legacy 
of a couple of leading Indigenous women. The seminar was presented by the Co-Chair of Queensland’s Path to 
Treaty, Dr Jackie Huggins AM and historian Professor Kay Saunders AO (see above) 

• Reconciliation Week also saw Reconciliation Queensland utilise Parliament House as a venue for its major breakfast 
event on 27 May 2021

• As part of NAIDOC week in July 2021, a special screening of the Indigenous film titled “Occupation: Native” was 
made available to staff at the parliamentary precinct

• Throughout the year the PS reviewed its HR policies and recruitment procedures to remove any barriers to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander participation in our workplace

• Current procurement policies and practices were also reviewed to remove any barriers to the procurement of goods 
and services from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander businesses, and to increase supplier diversity

Looking ahead
In 2021-2022, the working group will continue to deliver 
RAP actions including:

• Overseeing the development of a Cultural Learning 
Strategy and an Anti-Discrimination Policy

• Investigating the provision of information to electorate 
officers about cultural learning relevant to their 
electorate and local region, including on-country visits 

• The possible progressive refurbishment of the 
Reconciliation Gallery (opposite) on level 5 of the 
Parliamentary Annexe to honour First Nations peoples

• Implementing a strategy with a view to increase the 
percentage of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
staff employed in the Parliamentary precinct

(Above L-R) Hon Leeanne Enoch MP, Cynthia Lui MP, Hon 
Curtis Pitt MP, Jackie Huggins AM, Professor Kay Saunders 
AO, and Hon Craig Crawford MP at National Reconciliation 
Week event, May 2021. 



QUEENSLAND PARLIAMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2020–21

56

Corporate governance
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Corporate governance is the 
manner in which an organisation 
is controlled and governed 
in order to achieve its goals. 
Generally, it incorporates a 
number of dimensions including 
management structure, 
management systems and 
management standards. 
Corporate governance is the 
foundation on which service 
delivery should be built.

Management structure
The Parliamentary Service Act 1988 sets out the 
administrative functions of the Speaker.

The general role of the Speaker in relation to the 
Parliamentary Service is to:

• decide major policies to guide the operation and 
management of the Parliamentary Service

• prepare budgets
• decide the size and organisation of the Parliamentary 

Service and the services to be supplied by the 
Parliamentary Service, and

• supervise the management and delivery of services by 
the Parliamentary Service.

Under Part 2 section 5 of the Parliamentary Service Act 
1988, the Speaker has control of:

• accommodation and services in the parliamentary 
precinct, and

• accommodation and services supplied elsewhere by 
the Legislative Assembly for its Members.

Office of the Speaker
The Office of the Speaker provides executive, 
administrative and protocol support to the Speaker of  
the Legislative Assembly in relation to his various roles. 
Aside from the legislative obligations outlined earlier, 
these roles include public engagement, education and 
support of Members of Parliament and a range of other 
legislative responsibilities.

The Clerk of the Parliament
The Clerk of the Parliament has a number of roles which 
are outlined in section 20 of the Parliamentary Service 
Act 1988. The Clerk, as Chief Executive Officer of the 
Parliamentary Service, is:

• responsible to the Speaker for the efficient and  
cost effective management of the Parliamentary 
Service, and

• is the employing authority, for the Legislative 
Assembly, of parliamentary service officers and 
employees.

The Clerk is also the Accountable Officer, as defined 
under the Financial Accountability Act 2009, and as such 
has a range of financial management responsibilities 
and obligations in the management of the Parliamentary 
Service divisional leaders.
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Parliamentary Service divisions
The Parliamentary Service has four divisions:

• Assembly and Committee Services Division, led by the Deputy Clerk of the Parliament
• Information Services Division, led by the Director of Information Services and Parliamentary Librarian
• Corporate and Electorate Services Division, led by the Director of Corporate Services and Electorate Office 

Liaison, and
• Property and Facility Services Division, led by the Director of Property and Facility Services.

The divisional leaders report to the Clerk of the Parliament.

Management Groups
The Clerk has established a number of management groups within the Parliamentary Service as part of the broader 
corporate governance framework outlined earlier.

Executive Management Group
The role of the Executive Management Group (EMG) is to:

• provide leadership and ensure the effective 
management, coordination and performance of the 
Parliamentary Service

• consider reports from all management groups
• oversee the development and implementation of the 

Parliamentary Service Management Plan, Parliamentary 
Service-wide policies and procedures, management 
information systems and control environments, and

• review and recommend to the Speaker the annual 
budget for the Parliament.

The members of the EMG are the Clerk of the Parliament 
(Chair), and the four Divisional Directors. 

During 2020-21, the EMG:

• Oversaw the implementation of the COVID-19 
Response Strategy for the Parliamentary Service

• Monitored and reviewed the implementation of the 
three-year critical services and infrastructure upgrade 
program in the precinct, and

• Oversaw the program of Business Process Reviews of 
Service Areas. 

Audit Management Group
The role of the Audit Management Group (AMG) is to 
provide independent assurance and assistance to the 
Clerk on:

• internal control and compliance frameworks
• external audit liaison and communication with 

executive management
• monitoring implementation of internal and external 

audit recommendations, and
• the agency’s external accountability responsibilities 

as prescribed in the Financial Accountability Act 
2009 and the Financial and Performance Management 
Standard 2019.

As at June 2021, the members of the AMG were the:

• Deputy Clerk of the Parliament (Chair)
• Chief Reporter, Parliamentary Reporting and 

Broadcasting Service

• Director, Research and Information Service, 
Parliamentary Library, and

• Marita Corbett (external representative, Partner BDO).
During 2020–21 the AMG:

• Reviewed the AMG Charter
• Oversaw the implementation of the Internal Audit 

Management Plan for 2020-21
• Liaised with External Audit in respect of annual  

audit processes.

Information and Communication 
Technology Management Group
The role of the Information and Communication Technology 
Management Group (ICTMG) is to develop responsive 
information communication technology (ICT) strategies 
that enable the achievement of the Parliamentary Service’s 
organisational objectives.

Its specific charter is to:

• undertake ICT strategic planning, ensuring that 
such plans fit the current and ongoing needs of the 
Parliamentary Service

• evaluate proposed ICT initiatives
• manage staff understanding of and participation in ICT 

decision-making, and
• ensure ICT within the Parliamentary Service conforms 

to all applicable external regulations and complies 
with all internal policies and practices.

The membership of the ICTMG is:

• Director, Information Services and Parliamentary 
Librarian (Chair)

• Head, IT Services (Deputy Chair)
• First Clerk Assistant, (Committees)
• Director, Library Information Management
• Chief Hansard Reporter
• Financial and Administrative Services Manager
• Records Coordinator
• An external IT representative, and
• Two electorate office representatives.
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During 2020–21, the ICTMG met on five occasions and 
considered a wide range of issues including:

• A range of cyber security initiatives
• A secure technical solution and arrangements for a 

possible virtual Parliament
• The use of digital forms, and the upgrade of the 

Parliament’s website
• New information policies including Electronic 

Signatures, e-Waste, Information Security 
Management, and Cloud Supplier Assessment

• Replacement of the precinct’s server and storage 
infrastructure, and the new backup solution

• The implementation of multi-factor authentication, and
• New project management templates including ones  

for Test Plans, Benefits Realisation and a more 
extensive Post Implementation Review document for 
larger IT projects.

Security Management Group
The Security Management Group (SMG) assists the EMG 
by monitoring, reviewing and improving security strategies 
adopted within the parliamentary precinct and electorate 
offices across the State.

Membership Representatives 2020-21: 

• Director of Property and Facility - Chair
• Sergeant-at-Arms and Manager, Security  

and Attendants
• Senior Electorate Accommodation Officer
• Manager, HRM Services
• First Clerk Assistant (Procedure)
• External representative from the Queensland Police 

Service - Security Operations Unit
• External representative from State  

Government Security, and
• Electorate Officer representative - when matters 

relating to Electorate Offices on agenda.
During 2020-21, the SMG met on five occasions to review 
and advise on the below:

• Current National Security Status and Alerts
• Electorate Office Security Review
• Annual review of Security Management Plan
• CCTV camera operations in the parliamentary precinct
• Precinct perimeter fence upgrade project
• Review of access technologies in the precinct
• Review of security and threat incidents in the precinct 

and electorate office sites, and
• Electorate Office Site Contact Management.

Shared Service Initiative
As part of the state public sector Shared Service Initiative, 
the Queensland Parliament provides a range of corporate 
services to the following independent agencies:

• Office of the Governor
• Office of the Ombudsman, and
• Queensland Audit Office.

Existing management and operational structures within 
the Parliamentary Service are used to deliver these shared 
services, and all are delivered in accordance with annual 
operating level agreements between the agencies.

Workplace Health and Safety 
Management Group
The role of the Workplace Health and Safety Management 
Group (WHSMG) is to support the EMG by ensuring that 
obligations under the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 
are met. The WHSMG is for all intents and purposes 
the committee required under section 76 of the above-
mentioned Act. Group membership includes a number of 
management and employee representatives. 

As at June 2021, management representatives are:

• Director, Corporate Services and Electorate Office 
Liaison (Chair)

• Manager, Human Resource Services
• Senior Advisor, Human Resource Services
• Manager, Precinct Services
• Manager, Catering Services
• Workplace Health and Safety Coordinator, and
• Supervising Parliamentary Attendant (Administration 

and Reception).
Employee representatives (appointed every three years) as 
at June 2021 were:

• Sanja Luscombe, Cleaning Services
• Barry Arnold, Security & Attendant Service
• Kerri Swaine, Travel Services 
• Robert Hansen, Committee Office
• Jayden Miller, Purchasing Office
• Jackson Hills, Southport Electorate Office, and
• Susan Lear, Barron River Electorate Office.

During 2020–21, the WHSMG met on four occasions and 
developed, participated in, and assisted with:

• improving induction processes for external contractors 
working in the parliamentary precinct and delivering 
onsite safety training to staff

• development and implementation of recommendations 
associated with electorate office security

• development of mental health pilot training program 
for delivery to electorate office staff

• delivery of corporate flu vaccination program for 
Members and staff in 2021

• coordination and delivery of workplace wellness 
initiatives and workplace safety and mental health 
awareness programs, and

• monitoring and reviewing issues and responses arising 
from the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Management Systems
Planning
The Parliamentary Service undertakes planning at both 
strategic and operational levels to ensure that staff are 
focused on performance and achieving results. These plans 
form the basis of budgeting, performance management 
and reporting. 

The following key plans were prepared for 2020-2021:

• the Parliamentary Service Management Plan, 
incorporating a whole-of service strategic plan and 
operational plans for each management group and 
Service Area within the organisation, and

• a Training and Development Plan for staff.

Performance Management
The Clerk of the Parliament employs a range of 
mechanisms to measure and monitor the performance of 
the Parliamentary Service, including:

Internal management reporting 
Divisional Directors are required to submit quarterly 
management reports to the Clerk. These reports  
document financial and operational performance against 
performance targets outlined in the Parliamentary Service 
Management Plan.

Auditing and review
The Parliamentary Service engages an external contractor 
to provide internal audit services. The external contractor 
consults with the Parliamentary Service Audit Management 
Group and takes into consideration Queensland Treasury’s 
Audit Committee Guidelines. The Clerk of the Parliament, 
in his capacity as the Accountable Officer, considers and 
addresses internal audit reports and any recommendations 
contained therein. No significant issues were identified 
during the 2020-21 internal audit work program.

Employee performance planning and review
Parliamentary Service staff are subject to annual 
performance planning and review processes to improve 
alignment between the individual performance review 
outcomes and training and development opportunities.

External scrutiny
The Parliamentary Service is subject to an annual 
external audit by officers of the Queensland Audit 
Office pursuant to the Auditor-General Act 2009. No 
significant issues were identified regarding the operations 
of the Parliamentary Service during 2020-2021. All 
recommendations in audit reports have been responded 
to accordingly.

Resource management
The Clerk of the Parliament establishes and publishes 
policies and procedures for the management of all human, 
financial and information resources. Systems have been 
established to manage revenue, expenditure, assets and 
liabilities, as well as to protect information resources.

Records management 
While the Public Records Act 2002 does not apply to 
the Legislative Assembly or the Parliamentary Service, 
the Parliamentary Service is committed to following 
the principles contained in the legislation and also 
various public sector information standards, policies and 
guidelines concerning records management.

Management standards
The Parliamentary Service maintains a strong commitment 
to the development and maintenance of a culture of 
care, diligence, ethical behaviour, public defensibility, 
integrity, accountability and leadership. This commitment 
is reflected in management standards covering workplace 
health and safety delivered through the Workplace 
Health and Safety Management Group, and the Code of 
Conduct for Officers and Employees of the Parliamentary 
Service. The Code of Conduct guides staff when dealing 
with situations that may arise during the course of their 
duties, particularly those situations that may have an 
ethical dimension. The Code is important given that the 
Parliamentary Service provides support to the Parliament, 
the body to which all other public entities in Queensland 
are ultimately accountable. The Code was developed in 
accordance with the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994.
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Management profiles 
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Hon. Curtis Pitt MP
Hon. Curtis Pitt MP is the 
Speaker of the Legislative 
Assembly.
The Speaker presides over the 
Legislative Assembly, heads the 
Parliamentary Service and chairs 
the Committee of the Legislative 
Assembly. The Speaker is also the 
ceremonial representative of the 
Queensland Parliament.

Executive Management Group

Neil Laurie
LLB LLM(Hons) MBA
Clerk of the Parliament
Neil has been the Principal Officer 
of the Legislative Assembly, the 
Chief Executive Officer of, and 
the Accountable Officer for, the 
Parliamentary Service since February 
2003. Neil has over 28 years’ 
experience with the Parliamentary 
Service, including six years as Deputy 
Clerk and Clerk of Committees and 
over 18 years as Clerk.

Craig Atkinson
BBus GradCertProfAcc MIPA
Director, Corporate Services and 
Electorate Office Liaison
Craig leads the Corporate and 
Electorate Services Division of the 
Parliamentary Service. Craig was 
appointed Director in 2017 and has 
over 30 years’ experience in financial 
management, corporate governance 
and administration of members’ 
entitlements.

Stewart Johnson
GradDipFM BTEC Dip-Built 
Environment (UK)
Director, Property and Facility 
Services
Stewart leads the Property (including 
state wide electoral offices), Catering 
and Security & Attendants Divisions 
of the Parliamentary Service. Stewart 
was appointed in September 2016 
and has over 26 years of building 
management, project management, 
hospitality (hotels, aviation) and 
security operations experience 
working in Australia, UK and Dubai.

Janet Prowse
BA MIMS ALIA
Director, Information Services and 
Parliamentary Librarian
Janet leads the Information Services 
Division and is responsible for the 
Parliamentary Library, IT Services and 
Records Management. She joined the 
Parliamentary Service in May 2017 
and has extensive senior management 
experience in delivering information 
services and policy advice at a whole-
of-government level.

Michael Ries
BAdmin LLB GradDipBus
Deputy Clerk
Director, Assembly and 
Committee Services
Michael was appointed to the role 
of Deputy Clerk of Queensland 
Parliament in June 2008. Michael is 
responsible for the Assembly  
and Committee Services Division. 
Previously he held senior roles in the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet 
including Clerk of the  
Executive Council.
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Service Area Leaders

Ryan Cherry
Acting Senior Electorate Accommodation Officer
Ryan and the Electorate Accommodation team are responsible for managing the 97 electorate offices located 
throughout Queensland. Ryan has a building industry background and has experience with Queensland Cultural Precinct 
property and maintenance delivery.

Lynne Armstrong
BA GradDipLibSc MPhil
Director, Information Management Services
Lynne leads the Library Information Management Services team which is responsible for access to and maintenance 
of the Library’s multiple collections and research databases, email alert and audio visual services. Lynne has extensive 
experience in the Parliamentary Service.

Peter Morris
BBus
Manager, Human Resource Services
Peter is responsible for ensuring the delivery of human resources and industrial relations services to Parliamentary 
Service staff and Members of Parliament. Peter has experience in both human resource management and industrial 
relations at an operational and managerial level. Peter has over 25 years’ experience in human resource management.

Amy McElhenny 
DipHosp(Mgt)
Manager, Catering Services
Amy is responsible for managing Catering Services throughout the parliamentary precinct, including fine dining, events, 
casual dining and bar amenities, as well as general support to Members and QPS staff for venue set up and support for 
meetings and formal announcements. Beginning her career in the Culinary Arts under Brisbane’s respected chefs and 
restaurant names before moving into business management, Amy has over 25 years’ experience in food and beverage 
management and event marketing.

Robyn Moore
LLB MUrb&RegPlg GCWEP
Director, Research and Information Services
Robyn leads the Research and Information team which assists Members of Parliament in performing their duties by 
ensuring they have access to authoritative, impartial, and timely information. Robyn was appointed to the role after 
having undertaken various private sector and parliamentary roles.

Jo Mathers
BBus LLB (Hons)
Chief Reporter
Jo manages the Parliamentary Reporting and Broadcasting Service, which is responsible for the accurate, timely  
and efficient reporting and broadcasting of the proceedings of Parliament and its committees. Jo has over 23 years’ 
experience with the Parliamentary Service, including roles in Committees and Chamber, Education and  
Communication Services.

Amanda Honeyman
LLB (Hons), PGDip Law Bar (UK), GradCert PLP, GradCertBus
First Clerk Assistant (Procedure) Manager, Chamber, Education and Communication Services
Amanda leads the team that provides parliamentary procedural support to the Legislative Assembly Chamber and 
coordinates parliamentary education and community awareness of the institution of Parliament and its role and 
functions. Amanda joined the Parliamentary Service in 2007 and held several roles in the Committee Office and as the 
Bills Officer before being appointed to her current position in 2017.
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Shaun Thomas
Masters, Information Technology
Acting Head of Information Technology Services
Shaun leads the Information Technology Services team which provides ICT services throughout the parliamentary 
precinct and to electorate offices. He joined the Parliamentary Service in October 2019 as the Principal Cyber Security 
Officer, and has been Acting Head of Information Technology Services since January 2021. With over 12 years of ICT 
experience across a range of industry sectors, he has held various positions in private sector organisations.

Mark Richardson
Manager, Precinct Services
Mark was appointed to the role of Manager of Precinct Services in August 2017. Mark is responsible for the management 
and operation of buildings and capital projects within the parliamentary precinct. Mark has worked in the facilities 
management industry for over 26 years.

James Robertson
BBus(Accy) CPA
Manager, Financial and Administrative Services
James is the Manager of Financial and Administrative Services. His duties include establishing systems of financial 
management, asset and logistics management, preparing annual financial statements and compliance with relevant 
financial management legislation and standards as well as promoting best practice in financial management across the 
Parliamentary Service. 

Petá Sweeney
BA(LIS) BED MBA FRIM
Records Coordinator
Petá manages the corporate information assets of the Parliamentary Service. She joined the Parliamentary Service in 
November 2016 and has extensive experience in recordkeeping and information management in public and private 
sectors. Petá maintains strong industry links through her work on the Board of the Records and Information Management 
Professionals Australia (RIMPA) and on the RIMPA Queensland Branch.

Michael Watkin
BA (Justice) JP Qualified
Sergeant-at-Arms
Manager, Security and Attendant Services
Michael was appointed to the role of Sergeant-at-Arms in June 2014, and is also responsible for the delivery of 
Security and Attendant Services throughout the parliamentary precinct. Michael has over 26 years’ experience in the 
Parliamentary Service.

Bernice Watson
BA; Grad Dip Urban Research and Policy 
First Clerk Assistant (Committees)
Bernice leads the team that provides professional advice and research, administrative and procedural support to the 
various committees of the Parliament in fulfilling their roles and engaging with the community. Bernice has worked 
for many years in public policy, strategy and management roles in Queensland and Victoria, and has been with the 
Parliamentary Service since 2011.
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Other information
Legal framework 
The Parliamentary Service was created by the Parliamentary Service Act 1988. The Parliament 
of Queensland Act 2001 came into effect on 6 June 2002 and consolidated laws relating to the 
Legislative Assembly, its powers, procedures, Members and committees.

The Act was developed as a companion to the Constitution of Queensland 2001. All of the above 
Acts are administered by the Department of the Premier and Cabinet.

Privacy
The Queensland Parliamentary Service privacy policy conforms to the requirements of the 
Information Privacy Act 2009 (IPA). 

The policy is published on the Parliamentary Service Intranet and Internet in accordance with the 
requirements of the IPA. 

Further information about the privacy policy can be obtained by emailing privacy@parliament.qld.
gov.au or by phoning (07) 3553 6000.

Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment
During the period one retrenchment package was processed. 
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Financial statements
The following information is a high-level summary of the 2020-
21 Statements of Comprehensive Income and Financial Position 
for the Legislative Assembly of Queensland and Queensland 
Parliamentary Service.

Foreword
The Clerk of the Parliament is pleased to present the financial statements for the Legislative Assembly of Queensland 
and Queensland Parliamentary Service for the year ending 30 June 2021.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with section 62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 
and relevant sections of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019 to provide detailed information 
about the financial operations of the Legislative Assembly of Queensland and Queensland Parliamentary Service. 

The Auditor General has certified the statements without qualification.

Chief Finance Officer Assurance Statement
The Financial Accountability Act 2009 also requires that certain financial management responsibilities be delegated to 
the Chief Finance Officer. For the 2020-21 financial year, all minimum responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer have 
been fulfilled. In accordance with section 54 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019, the Chief 
Finance Officer has provided a statement to the Clerk of the Parliament regarding the efficiency, effectiveness and 
economy of financial controls in operation during 2020-21. This statement has also been presented to the Parliamentary 
Service Audit Management Group. 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
The operating activities of the Legislative Assembly of Queensland and Queensland Parliamentary Service delivered an 
operating surplus of $1.114M. The surplus equates to approximately 1% of appropriation revenue and can be primarily 
attributed to (a) contributions received below fair value from Department of Energy and Public Works for the Parliament 
House stonework restoration project; and (b) lower depreciation of capital assets. 

During 2020-21 revenue increased 2% ($2.275M). The main reason was an increase in appropriation revenue from the 
Queensland Government to cover operating expenses.

Operating expenses in 2020-21 increased 2% ($1.92M). Higher costs were primarily due to a determination by the 
Queensland Independent Remuneration Tribunal to increase Members’ allowances and the allowable carry-over of 
unspent allowances from 2019-20 to 2020-21 financial year.

At a glance

2020-21 Amount ($’000) 2019-20 Amount ($’000)

Total Income 106,427  104,152 

Total Expenses 105,313  103,393 

Net Operating Surplus/(Loss) 1,114  759 

Statement of Financial Position
The Legislative Assembly of Queensland and Queensland Parliamentary Service maintained a stable financial position in 
2020-21.  Net assets increased by 2% ($4.37 million) in 2020-21.  

Land and buildings on the parliamentary precinct ($192.3M) make-up the majority of total assets, while trade creditors 
and accrued employee benefits represent almost all of the total liabilities.

2020-21 Amount ($’000) 2019-20 Amount ($’000)

Total Assets  224,252  220,764 

Total Liabilities  3,842  4,731 

Net Assets (Equity) 220,410  216,033 

Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets 4,377  374 



QUEENSLAND PARLIAMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2020–21

69

Expenditure
Expenses from ordinary activities 2020–21

The graph opposite depicts 
expenditure by major resource 
category for 2020-21. It includes:

• payment of salaries and 
allowances to Members of 
Parliament, electorate office staff, 
Parliamentary Service officers and 
support staff

• operational costs required 
to provide the functions and 
activities to achieve Parliamentary 
Service objectives, and

• depreciation expenses associated 
with Parliamentary Service’s 
buildings, plant and equipment.

Revenue
Revenue from ordinary activities 2020–21 

The main source of funding for the 
Legislative Assembly of Queensland 
and Queensland Parliamentary Service 
is appropriation funding from the 
Queensland Government.

Additional revenue is generated 
through the sale of goods and 
services such as: 

• catering services
• corporate services provided to 

client agencies, and
• educational activities and 

publications. 
Grants and other contributions 
represent capital works performed  
by the Department of Energy and 
Public Works at no cost to the 
Legislative Assembly.

Grants and other contributions 
$0.267M 

User charges 
$2.103M 

Depreciation and amortisation 

Other revenue 
$0.058M 

$7.513M 

Appropriation revenue 
$103.999M 

Employee expenses 
$68.624M 
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Guide to the Financial Statements

The set of financial statements included in this 
annual report reflect various aspects of the financial 
operations of the Legislative Assembly of Queensland 
and the Parliamentary Service.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
This statement reports the income and expenditure of 
the Legislative Assembly of Queensland and Queensland 
Parliamentary Service for the 12 month period ending 30 
June 2021. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
by Service Areas
This statements reports income and expenditure 
(including changes in property, plant and equipment asset 
values) under the two major service areas – Members’ 
Salaries, Entitlements and Electorate Office Services and 
Parliamentary Precinct Support Services for the financial 
year ending 30 June 2021. 

Statement of Financial Position
This statement reports the assets and liabilities, and 
equity of the Legislative Assembly of Queensland and 
Queensland Parliamentary Service as at 30 June 2021. 
Assets and liabilities are classified as current where it is 
expected that the item will be converted to cash (received 
or paid) during the following 12 month period. Assets and 
liabilities are classified as non-current where they are 
expected to be converted to cash at a time later than 12 
months from 30 June 2021.

Statement of Assets and Liabilities by 
Service Areas
This statement reports assets, liabilities and equity 
under the two major service areas – Members’ Salaries, 
Entitlements and Electorate Office Services and 
Parliamentary Precinct Support Services for the financial 
year ending 30 June 2021.

Statement of Changes in Equity 
Equity is the residual difference between assets  
and liabilities and reflects the net worth of the Legislative 
Assembly of Queensland and Queensland Parliamentary 
Service. It also reflects the amount of equity contributed 
by Queensland Treasury. This statement reports  
changes in various categories of equity including 
Contributed Equity, Accumulated Surpluses, and Asset 
Revaluation Surpluses.

Statement of Cash Flows
This statement reports information regarding actual 
inflows and outflows of cash during the financial year and 
the available cash at the end of the financial year.



QUEENSLAND PARLIAMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2020–21

71

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF QUEENSLAND 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2021 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Year ended 30 June 2021 

Operating Results Notes 2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 
Income from Continuing Operations 

Appropriation revenue B1-1 103,999 100,401 

User charges and fees B1-2 2,103 2,105 

Grants and other contributions B1-3 267 720 

Other revenue 58 926 

Total Revenue 106,427 104,152 

Total Income from Continuing Operations 106,427 104,152 

Expenses from Continuing Operations 

Employee expenses B2-1 68,624 68,131 

Supplies and services B2-2 28,891 26,822 

Depreciation and amortisation B2-3 7,513 8,112 

Other expenses B2-4 285 328 

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 105,313 103,393 

Operating Result from Continuing Operations 1,114 759 

Other Comprehensive Income 

Increase {decrease) in asset revaluation surplus C4-1 2,549 930 

Total Other Comprehensive Income 2,549 930 

Total Comprehensive Income 3,663 1,689 

"An explanation of major variances is included at Note E1. 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 
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Original Variance* 
Budget 

2021 2021 

$'000 $'000 

102,170 1,829 

2,169 (66) 

267 

32 26 

104,371 2,056 

104,371 2,056 

68,895 (271) 

27,127 1,764 

8,115 (602) 

234 51 

104,371 942 

1,114 

2,549 

2,549 

3,663 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income by Major Service Areas 

For year ended 30 June 2021 

Members' Salaries, 
Parliamentary 

Entitlements and General - Not 
Electorate Office 

Precinct Support 
Attributed 

Total 

Services 
Services 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Income from Continuing 
Operations 

Appropriation revenue 66,097 62,894 37,902 37,507 103,999 100,401 

User charges and fees 1,910 1,854 193 251 2,103 2,105 

Grants and other contributions 267 720 267 720 

Other revenue 30 8 28 918 58 926 

Total Income from Continuing 
Operations 

66,127 62,902 40,107 40,999 193 251 106,427 104,152 

Expenses from Continuing 
Operations 

Employee expenses 46,061 45,379 22,414 22,605 150 147 68,624 68,131 

Supplies and services 18,067 14,573 10,781 12,145 43 104 28,891 26,822 

Depreciation and amortisation 617 704 6,896 7,408 7,513 8,112 

Other expenses 14 50 271 278 285 328 

Total Expenses from Continuing 64,759 60,706 40,361 42,436 193 251 105,313 103,393 
Operations 

Operating Result from 
Continuing Operations 1,368 2,196 (254) (1,437) 1,114 759 

Other Comprehensive Income 
Increase (decrease) in asset 
revaluation surplus 2,549 930 2,549 930 

Total Other Comprehensive 
Income 2,549 930 2,549 930 

Total Comprehensive Income 1,368 2,196 2,295 (507) 3,663 1,689 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2021 

Notes 2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 
Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents C1 13,368 8,107 
Receivables C2 1,620 2,434 

Other current assets C3 1,182 3,107 

Inventories 164 207 

Total Current Assets 16,334 13,855 

Non-Current Assets 

Property, plant & equipment C4 207,286 206,228 

Intangibles 632 681 

Total Non-Current Assets 207,918 206,909 

Total Assets 224,252 220,764 

Current Liabilities 

Payables C5 2,706 3,714 
Accrued employee benefits C6 1,126 1,009 

Other current liabilities 10 8 

Total Current Liabilities 3,842 4,731 

Total Liabilities 3,842 4,731 

Net Assets 220,410 216,033 

Equity 

Contributed equity C7 3,535 2,819 
Accumulated surpluses 32,475 31,362 

Asset revaluation surplus C7-3 184,400 181,852 

Total Equity 220,410 216,033 

The accompanying noies form part of ihese siaiemenis. 
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Statement of Assets and Liabilities by Major Service Areas 
As at 30 June 202 1 

Members' Salaries, 
Parliamentary Precinct General - Not Entitlements and Total 

Electorate Office Support Services Attributed 

Services 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Current Assets 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 13,368 8,107 13,368 8,107 

Receivables 155 94 1,425 1,345 40 995 1,620 2,434 

Other current assets 25 991 1,157 2,116 1,182 3,107 

Inventories 164 207 164 207 

Total Current Assets 180 1,085 16,114 11,775 40 995 16,334 13,855 

Non-Current Assets 

Property, plant & 
equipment 5,277 5,098 202,009 201,130 207,286 206,228 

Intangibles 632 681 632 681 

Total Non-Current 
Assets 5,277 5,098 202,641 201,811 207,918 206,909 

Total Assets 5,457 6,183 218,755 213,586 40 995 224,252 220,764 

Current Liabilities 

Payables 383 278 2,323 3,436 2,706 3,714 

Accrued employee 
benefits 530 423 596 586 1,126 1,009 
Other current 
liabilities 10 8 10 8 

Total Current 
Liabilities 913 701 2,929 4,030 3,842 4,731 

Total Liabilities 913 701 2,929 4,030 3,842 4,731 

Net Assets 4,544 5,482 215,826 209,556 40 995 220,410 216,033 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

Notes 
Accumulated Asset Revaluation 

Surpluses Surplus 

2021 2020 2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Opening Balance as at 1 July 31,361 30,602 181,852 180,922 

Operating Result from Continuing Operations 1,114 759 

Total Other Com12.rehensive Income 

- Increase (Decrease) in Asset Revaluation 
C7-3 2,548 930 

Surplus 

Transactions with Owners as Owners: 

- Appropriated equity withdrawals C7-2 

- Appropriated equity injections C7-2 

Closing Balance as at 30 June 32,475 31,361 184,400 181,852 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 
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Contributed 
TOTAL 

Equity 

2021 2020 2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

2,819 4,135 216,033 215,659 

1,114 759 

2,548 930 

(5,503) (5,128) (5,503) (5,128) 

6,219 3,812 6,219 3,812 

3,535 2,819 220,410 216,033 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Inflows: 

Departmental services receipts 

User charges 

GST input tax credits from ATO 

GST collected from customers 

Outflows: 

Employee expenses 

Supplies and services 

GST remitted to ATO 

GST paid to suppliers 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Inflows: 

Sales of non-financial assets 

Outflows: 

Payments for property, plant and equipment 

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities 

Inflows: 

Equity injections 

Outflows: 

Equity withdrawals 

Net Cash Provided by (used in) Financing 
Activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash held 

Cash at beginning of financial year 

Cash at End of Financial Year 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 

Notes 

CF-1 

C7-2 

C7-2 

C1 

2021 

$'000 

102,902 

3,110 

2,739 

301 

(68,337) 

(27,003) 

(363) 

(2,933) 

10,415 

(5,870) 

(5,870) 

6,219 

(5,503) 

716 

5,261 

8,107 

13,368 
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2020 

$'000 

101,844 

1,954 

3,227 

387 

(69,377) 

(29,945) 

(317) 

(3,425) 

4,348 

4 

(8,858) 

(8,854) 

3,812 

(5,128) 

(1,316) 

(5,822) 

13,929 

8,107 
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Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

CF-1 Reconciliation of Operating Result to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 

2021 

$'000 

Operating result 1,114 

Depreciation and amortisation 7,513 

Loss on sale of assets 5 

Gain on sale of assets 

Receipt adjustment for goods and services received below fair value (267) 

Changes in Assets and Liabilities: 

(lncrease)/decrease in Receivables 902 
(lncrease)/decrease in Other assets 1,925 
(lncrease)/decrease in Inventory 43 
lncrease/(decrease) in Payables (807) 
lncrease/(decrease) in Accrued employee benefits (5) 
Increase/( decrease) in Other liabilities {8) 

Net Cash provided by Operating Activities 10,415 
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2020 

$'000 

759 

8,112 

14 

(4) 

(720) 

(1,456) 

(2,604) 

(19) 

273 

(11) 

4 

4,348 
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2021 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

A1 BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION 
A1-1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

These financial statements cover the Legislative Assembly of Queensland and the Queensland Parliamentary Service. 

The Legislative Assembly, together with the State Governor, forms the Queensland Parliament. 

The Queensland Parliamentary Service is established under the Parliamentary Service Act 1988 (Qld). 

The Legislative Assembly does not control any other entities. 

The head office and principal place of business of the Legislative Assembly of Queensland is: 

Parliament House 

Corner George and Alice Streets 

BRISBANE Q 4000 

A1-2 COMPLIANCE WITH PRESCRIBED REQUIREMENTS 

The Legislative Assembly has prepared these financial statements in compliance with section 38 of the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2019. The financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury's Minimum Reporting Requirements for 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2020. 

The Legislative Assembly is a not-for-profit entity and these general purpose financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis 
( except for the Statement of Cash Flow which is prepared on a cash basis) in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations applicable to not-for-profit entities. 

A1-3 PRESENTATION 

Currency and Rounding 

Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is 
$500 or less, to zero, unless disclosure of the full amount is specifically required. 

Comparatives 

Comparative information reflects the audited 2019-20 financial statements. No material changes have been made to the comparative 
information. 

Current and Non-Current Classification 

Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial Position and associated notes. 

Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date. 
Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date or the Legislative 
Assembly does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to beyond 12 months after the reporting date. 

All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 

A1-4 AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE 

The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Clerk of the Parliament and Chief Finance Officer at the date of signing the 
Management Certificate. 

A1-5 BASIS OF MEASUREMENT 

Historical cost is used as the measurement basis in this financial report except for the following: 
• Land, buildings, heritage and cultural assets which are measured at fair value; and 
• Inventories which are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
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Historical Cost 

Legislative Assembly of Queensland Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2021 

Under historical cost, assets are recorded at the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the consideration given 
to acquire assets at the time of their acquisition. Liabilities are recorded at the amount of proceeds received in exchange for the 
obligation or at the amounts of cash or cash equivalents expected to be paid to satisfy the liability in the normal course of business. 

Fair Value 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly 
derived from observable inputs or estimated using another valuation technique. 

Where fair value is used, the fair value approach is disclosed (refer to Note C4-4). 

Fair Value Inputs 

In determining fair value the Legislative Assembly adopts methodologies that maximises the use of observable inputs and minimises 
the use of unobservable inputs. 

Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy 

All assets of the Legislative Assembly for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within 
the following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals: 

Level 1 represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active 
markets for identical assets and liabilities; 

Level2 represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than 
quoted prices included within level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs. 

Details of assets measured under each category of fair value are set out as follows: 

Land 

Buildings 

Heritage and Cultural Assets: 

Artworks and Objects 

Heritage Furniture 

20th Century Heritage Book Collection 

Total 

Present Value 

Level 1 

2021 

$'000 

-

-

-

-

-

-

Level2 

2020 2021 

$'000 $'000 

- 110,000 

- -

- 3,606 

- 375 

- -

- 113,981 

Level3 

2020 2021 

$'000 $'000 

110,000 -
- 82,333 

3,606 -

375 -

- 452 

113,981 82,785 

2020 

$'000 

-

81,543 

-
-

394 

81,937 

Present value represents the present discounted value of the future net cash inflows that the item is expected to generate (in respect 
f'\f ~ c:c:Ptc:\ nr th,=i, nrPc:Ant rl ic:r-n, ,nh:lrl u~ l! !A 0f thA f, ,t! !rA nAt ,...~~h n, ttflA\MC: AYnAf"'tArl tn c::Att!A fin r,=i,c:n,=i,rt nf li ~ h ilitiAc::, in th A nnrm~I -- ------, -· -··- r·---·-· -·----· ··-- · -·-- -· -··- · -·-·- ··-· - --· · -- ···-··- ---,- - ---- -- --··· - , ... ·--.---- -· ··--·····- -1 ... -··- ··-····--
COUr5e of business. 

Net Realisable Value 

Net realisable value represents the amount of cash or cash equivalents that could currently be obtained by selling an asset in an 
orderly disposal. 
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A2 OBJECTIVES AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The Legislative Assembly of Queensland consists of 93 Members of Parliament who discharge a range of important legislative and 
constituency responsibilities. 

The Parliamentary Service Act 1988 (Qld) provides for the establishment of the Queensland Parliamentary Service to deliver 
administrative and support services to the Legislative Assembly of Queensland, its Members and committees. 

The Financial Accountability Act 2009 (Qld) defines the Legislative Assembly and Queensland Parliamentary Service as a 
department for the purpose of financial administration and reporting. 

The objectives and goals of the Queensland Parliamentary Service are available on the Queensland Parliament's website at 
www.parliament.qld.qov.au . The Legislative Assembly is funded for the services it delivers principally by parliamentary 
appropriations. It also provides the following on a fee for services basis: 

• Catering and gift shop services; 

• Corporate services provided to client agencies; and 

• Public sector education seminars. 

A3 MAJOR SERVICE AREAS OF THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF QUEENSLAND 

The Legislative Assembly has two major service areas called Members' Salaries, Entitlements and Electorate Office Services, and 
Parliamentary Precinct Support Services. 

Members' Salaries, Entitlements and Electorate Office Services 

Members' Salaries, Entitlements and Electorate Office Services represent the cost of Members' salaries and entitlements and 
maintaining and supporting electorate offices across the State. 

The Members' Remuneration Handbook is issued pursuant to section 60 of the Queensland Independent Remuneration Tribunal 
Act 2013 (Qld). The Handbook stipulates the current remuneration (i.e. salaries, allowances and entitlements) in connection with 
Members of the Legislative Assembly and includes services and support to Members' electorate and parliamentary offices. For more 
information refer to the Members' Remuneration Handbook located on the Queensland Parliament's website. 

Parliamentary Precinct Support Services 

Parliamentary Precinct Support Services delivers: 

• advisory, information support services to assist the Parliament, its committees and Members to fulfil their constitutional and 
parliamentary responsibilities. These services include Chamber, Education & Communication Services; the Committee Office; 

the Parliamentary Library; and the Parliamentary Reporting and Broadcasting Service; 

• services to promote the institution of Parliament and raise community awareness and understanding of its important role and 

functions; 

• services to provide a safe and secure parliamentary precinct including Security and Attendant Services; 

• accommodation and hospitality services that provide Members, staff and guests of the Parliament with an appropriate working 

environment; and 

• organisational services that support the activities of Members and their staff and deliver and administer a range of entitlements 
afforded to Members pursuant to the Members ' Remuneration Handbook; including Information Technology Services, Human 

Resource Services, and Financial and Administrative Services. 
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B1 REVENUE 
B1-1 APPROPRIATION REVENUE 

Reconciliation of Payments from Consolidated Fund to Appropriated Revenue 
Recognised in Operating Result 

Budgeted departmental services appropriation 

Unforeseen expenditure 

Treasurer's Transfers 

Total Appropriation Receipts (cash) 

Plus: Opening balance of deferred appropriation funding payable 

Less: Closing balance of deferred appropriation funding payable 

Net Appropriation revenue 

Plus: Deferred appropriation payable to Consolidated Fund 

Appropriation Revenue recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Accounting Policy- Appropriation Revenue 

2021 
$'000 

100,732 

1,795 

375 

102,902 

1,968 

871 

103,999 

103,999 

2020 
$'000 

101,325 

519 

101,844 

525 

1,968 

100,401 

100,401 

Appropriations provided under the Appropriation (Parliament) (2020-21) Act 2021 (Old) are recognised as revenue when received. 
Where the Legislative Assembly has an obligation to return unspent appropriation receipts to Consolidated Fund at year end (a 
deferred appropriation repayable to Consolidated Fund), a liability is recognised with a corresponding reduction to appropriation 
revenue, reflecting the net appropriation revenue position with Consolidated Fund for the reporting period. Capital appropriations 
are recognised as adjustments to equity, refer to Note C7-2. 

Disclosure - Unforeseen Expenditure 

Appropriations for Unforeseen Expenditure reflects additional appropriation received for expenditure not originally budgeted for. For 
the 2021 reporting period, unforeseen expenditure was related to costs associated with the 2020 state election and additional funding 
to support service delivery pressures. 

Disclosure - Treasurer's Transfers 

Appropriations for Treasurer's Transfers reflects a transfer of budget from capital to operating for the Library Management System. 

Disclosure - Deferred Appropriation Payable 

The closing balance of deferred appropriation funding payable is primarily required to meet 2021-22 expenses related to the 
Electorate Office Technology Model and other operational projects. 

B1 -2 USER CHARGES AND FEES 

Sale of Goods and Services 

Catering sales 

Corporate services suppo,t 

Other user charges and fees 

Other 

Total 
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2021 
$'000 

1,587 

185 

139 
1 i:;~ 

39 

2,103 

2020 
$'000 

1,555 

25i 

135 

122 

42 

2,105 
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Accounting Policy - Sale of goods and services 

Sales of goods and services are recognised as revenues when the revenue has been earned and can be measured reliably with a 
sufficient degree of certainty. This occurs upon delivery of the goods to the customer or completion of the requested services at 
which time the invoice is raised. User charges and fees are controlled by the Legislative Assembly. 

B1-3 GRANTS AND OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS 

Goods and services received below fair value 

Total 

Accounting Policy- Goods and services received below fair value 

2021 
$'000 

267 

267 

2020 
$'000 

720 

720 

Contributions of goods/services are recognised only if the goods/services would have been purchased if they had not been donated 
and their fair value can be measured reliably. 

Where this is the case, an equal amount is recognised as revenue and a corresponding amount is recognised as an expense or 
capital acquisition. 

Disclosure - Goods and services received below fair value 

Goods and services received below fair value includes contributions by the Department of Energy and Public Works (DEPW) to the 
Parliament House Fence Restoration Program and supply and installation of electric vehicle charging stations by CS Energy. The 
Parliament House Fence Restoration Program is jointly funded by the DEPW and the Legislative Assembly to restore the perimeter 
fencing of the Parliament Precinct. 

Refer to note C4-1 . 

82 EXPENSES 
B2-1 EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 

Employee Benefits 

Wages and salaries 

Employer superannuation contributions 

Annual leave levy/expense 

Long service leave levy/expense 

Other employee benefits 

Employee Related Expenses 

Fringe benefits tax 

Workers' compensation premium 

Professional development 

Other employee related expenses 

Total 

Full-time equivalent employees 
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2021 
$'000 

57,505 

6,561 

3,043 

853 

35 

309 

150 

106 

62 

68,624 

2021 

510 

2020 
$'000 

56,931 

6,478 

3,166 

772 

48 

348 

159 

158 

71 

68,131 

2020 

506 
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B2-1 EMPLOYEE EXPENSES (Continued) 

Accounting Policies - Employee Expenses 

Wages & Salaries 

Wages and salaries due at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at the current salary rates. As the 
Legislative Assembly expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at 
undiscounted amounts. 

Sick Leave 

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected 
to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no 
liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it 
is taken . 

Annual Leave 

Under the Queensland Government's Annual Leave Central Scheme, a levy is made on the Legislative Assembly to cover the cost 
of employees' annual leave (including leave loading and on-costs). The levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable. 
Amounts paid to employees for annual leave are claimed from the scheme quarterly in arrears. 

Long Service Leave 

Under the Queensland Government's Long Service Leave Scheme, a levy is made on the Legislative Assembly to cover the cost of 
employees' long service leave. The levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable. Amounts paid to employees for 
long service leave are claimed from the scheme quarterly in arrears. 

Superannuation 

Employer superannuation contributions are provided through defined contribution (accumulation) plans or the Queensland 
Government's QSuper defined benefit plan as determined by the employee's conditions of employment. 

Defined contribution plans are made to eligible complying superannuation funds based on the rates specified in the relevant EBA or 
other conditions of employment. Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable following completion of 
the employee's service each pay period. 

Defined benefit plan - The liability for defined benefits is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial 
statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. The amount of 
contributions for defined benefit plan obligations is based upon the rates determined on the advice of the State Actuary. Contributions 
are paid by the Legislative Assembly at the specified rate following completion of the employee's service each pay period. The 
Legislative Assembly's obligations are limited to those contributions paid. 

Members of Parliament elected prior to December 2004 are covered by the Parliamentary Contributory Superannuation Act 1970 
(Qld). Members of Parliament elected after December 2004 are subject to the Superannuation (State Public Sector) Act 1990 (Qld) 
with the Legislative Assembly making employer contributions for these Members of Parliament. 

Workers' Compensation Premiums 

The Legisiaiive Assembiy pays premiums io Vv'orkCover Queensiand in respect of its obiigaiions for empioyee compensaiion. 

Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not counted in an employee's total remuneration 
..... .- .... 1 ..... _. ..... ,.., • ................. ................... ·....1 ............ ....1 ,.. .......... - ..... 1 ................. 1,-,. ............ c• ......... ...1 • ..... ,1.1-.. ........ ,...r ................................ · ........... ,-,1 ...................... -1- ..... 1 •• ................ ................. 1 ....................... 1 .... , ..... ....1 .......................... ..... 
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Note: Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are detailed in Note F1. 
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B2-2 SUPPLIES ANO SERVICES 

Members' entitlements 

Rental expenses 

Commercial and professional services 

Information and communication technology services 

Maintenance and minor equipment 

Utilities 

Cost of goods sold 

Consumables 

Other costs 

Total 

Disclosure - Members' entitlements 

2021 
$'000 

10,245 

6,594 

4,657 

3,153 

1,753 

1,055 

861 

355 

218 

28,891 

2020 
$'000 

7,084 

6,346 

4,278 

3,494 

2,935 

1,124 

810 

338 

413 

26,822 

Members are provided with a range of non-employee related resources and support pursuant to the Members' Remuneration 
Handbook (refer to Note A3). These entitlements include accountable allowances provided to Members, and specific allocations to 
meet various administrative costs. 

Accounting Policy- Rental expenses 

The Department of Energy and Public Works (DEPW) provides the Legislative Assembly with access to office accommodation under 
the Queensland Government Accommodation Office frameworks. These arrangements are categorised as procurement of services 
rather than as leases under AASB16 because DEPW has substantive substitution rights over the assets. The related costs are 
expensed under rental expenses. 

B2-3 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 

Depreciation 

Amortisation 

Total 

B~4 OTHEREXPENSES 

Insurance premiums - QGIF 

External audit fees 

Internal audit fees 

Special payments 

Loss/(Gain) from disposal of non-current assets 

Other 

Total 
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2021 
$'000 

7,354 

159 

7,513 

2021 
$'000 

122 

92 

45 

11 

5 

10 

285 

2020 
$'000 

7,962 

150 

8,112 

2020 
$'000 

101 

92 

57 

57 

11 

10 

328 
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82-4 OTHER EXPENSES (Continued) 

Disclosure - External audit fees 

Total audit fees quoted by the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2020-21 financial statements are $92,250 (2019-20: 
$92,250). 

Disclosure - Special payments 
Special payments represent ex gratia expenditure that the Legislative Assembly is not contractually or legally obligated to make to 
other parties. A total of $11,406 was paid to former employees for loss of employment during the 2020-21 reporting period. 

C1 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash at bank 

Imprest accounts 

Total 

Accounting Policy- Cash and Cash Equivalents 

2021 2020 
$'000 $'000 

13,364 8,102 

4 5 

13,368 8,107 

For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flows, cash assets include all cash and cheques 
receipted but not banked at 30 June 2021 as well as deposits at call with financial institutions. 

Legislative Assembly bank accounts are grouped within the whole-of-Government set-off arrangement with the Queensland Treasury 
Corporation and do not earn interest on surplus funds. Interest earned on the aggregate set-off arrangement balance accrues to the 
Consolidated Fund. 

C2 RECEIVABLES 
2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 

Trade debtors 316 1,050 

GST receivable 591 393 

GST payable (36) (98) 

Annual leave reimbursements 607 288 

Long service leave reimbursements 131 132 

Other receivables 11 669 

Total 1,620 2,434 

Accounting Policy- Receivables 

Trade debtors are recognised at the amounts due at the time of saie or service deiivery i.e. the agreed purchaseicontract price. 
Settlement on these amounts is required within 30 days of issue of monthly invoice. 

Disclosure - Credit Risk Exposure of Receivables 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date for receivables is the gross carrying amount of those receivables inclusive of 
any provisions for impairment. No collateral is held as security and no credit enhancements relate to receivables held by the 
Legislative Assembly. 

All receivables within terms are expected to be fully collectible and are considered of good credit quality based on recent collection 
history. 

Page 18 of31 



QUEENSLAND PARLIAMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2020–21

89

Legislative Assembly of Queensland Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2021 

The Legislative Assembly measures risk exposure using Aging analysis and adopts a credit management strategy which aims to 
reduce the exposure to credit default by regularly monitoring all funds owed. 

C2-1 IMPAIRMENT OF RECEIVABLES 

Accounting Policy- Impairment of Receivables 

The Legislative Assembly conducts an annual assessment of receivables to identify whether an allowance for losses needs to be 
recorded. The assessment is made on each group of debtors that have similar customer profiles. The assessment considers lifetime 
expected credit losses and incorporates reasonable and supportable forward-looking information. Economic changes impacting the 
Legislative Assembly's debtors, and relevant industry data form part of the assessment. 

The majority of Legislative Assembly debtors are government agencies or associated with the Parliament (e.g. Members of 
Parliament) and the risk of loss by this group of debtors is considered very low. Other debtors make up a small portion of trade 
receivables. 

Impairment of receivable is recorded where the annual assessment of allowance for losses is deemed material. 

Where the Legislative Assembly has no reasonable expectation of recovering an amount owed by a debtor, the debt is written-off by 
directly reducing the receivable against the loss allowance. If the amount of debt written off exceeds the loss allowance, the excess 
is recognised as an impairment loss. 

Disclosure - Impairment of Receivables 

The Legislative Assembly did not recognise an impairment of receivables during the 2020-21 financial year (2019-20: Nil}. 

C3 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
2021 2020 
$'000 $'000 

Prepayments 1,182 2,141 

Accountable advance 966 

Total 1,182 3,107 
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C4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EIQWPMENT AND DEPRECIATION EXPENSE 
C4-1 CLOSING BALANCES AND RECONCILIA.TION OF CARRYING AMOUNT 

Gross 11 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 

Carrying amount at 30 June 11 

Represented by movements in carrying amount: 

Carrying amount at 1 July 

Acquisitions - purchased 

Donations received 

Disposals 

Transfers between asset classes 

Net revaluation increments/(decrements) in 
asset revaluation surplus 

Depreciation expense 

Carrying amount at 30 June 

11 

11 

Land 

202·1 :2020 

: '000 $'000 

1),000 110.000 

1),000 11 101,000 

1),000 110.000 

ll ,OOO 110,000 

Buildings Heritage and 
Cultural Assets 

2021 2020 2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

210,821 199,784 4,433 4,375 

(128,488) (118,241) 

82,333 81,543 4,433 4,375 

81,543 76,68B 4,375 4,375 

15 

4,565 10,839 

2,491 930 58 

(6,282) (6,914) 

82,333 81,543 4,433 4,375 
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Plant and 
Equipment 

2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 

13,578 13,529 

(8,140) (7,963) 

5,438 5,566 

5,566 3,243 

198 816 

(5) (15) 

751 2,570 

(1,072) (1 ,048) 

5,438 5,566 

Work in Progress Total 

2021 2020 2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

5,082 4,743 343,914 332,432 

(136,628) (126,204) 

5,082 4,743 207,286 206,228 

4,743 9,573 206,228 203,880 

5,403 7,858 5,601 8,674 

252 720 267 720 

(5) (15) 

(5,31 6) (13,408) 

2,549 930 

(7,355) (7,962) 

5,082 4,743 207,286 206,228 
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C4-2 RECOGNITION AND ACQUISITION 

Accounting Policy- Recognition Thresholds 

Basis of Capitalisation and Recognition Thresholds 

Items of property, plant and equipment with a historical cost or other value equal to or exceeding the following thresholds in the year 
of acquisition are reported as Property, Plant and Equipment: 

Buildings 

Land 

Heritage and Cultural Assets 

Plant and Equipment 

Library Reference Collection 

$10,000 

$1 

$5,000 

$5,000 

$1,000,000 

Items with a lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition. 

Expenditure on property, plant and equipment is capitalised where it is probable that the expenditure will produce future service 
potential for the Legislative Assembly. Subsequent expenditure is only added to an asset's carrying amount if it increases the service 
potential or useful life of the existing asset. Maintenance expenditure that merely restores original service potential (lost through 
ordinary wear and tear) is expensed. 

Componentisation of Complex Assets 

Complex assets comprise assets with separately identifiable components (or groups of components) of significant value, that require 
replacement at regular intervals and at different times to other components comprising the complex asset. 

Components are valued on the same basis as the asset class to which the assets relate. The accounting policy for depreciation of 
complex assets, and estimated useful lives of components, are disclosed in Note C4-5. 

The Legislative Assembly's complex assets are the Parliamentary Precinct buildings. 

Accounting Policy- Cost of Acquisition 

Historical cost is used for the initial recording of all property, plant and equipment acquisitions. Historical cost is determined as the 
value given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for 
use. 

The cost of items acquired during the financial year has been judged by management of the Legislative Assembly to materially 
represent their fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, are recognised at their fair value at date of acquisition. 

C4-3 MEASUREMENT USING HISTORICAL COST 

Accounting Policy 

Plant and equipment (and Intangibles) are measured at historical cost in accordance with Queensland Treasury's Non-Current Asset 
Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. The carrying amounts for such plant and equipment is not materially different from their 
fair value. 
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C4-4 MEASUREMENT USING FAIR VALUE 

Accounting Policy 

Land, buildings, and heritage and cultural assets are measured at fair value as required by Queensland Treasury's Non-Current 
Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. These assets are reported at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the 
date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses where applicable. 

Heritage and cultural assets include objects such as paintings, prints, clocks, heritage furniture and heritage books. 

Key Judgement: Valuing Parliamentary Library Assets -

20th Century Heritage Book Collection: 

The "O'Donovan Collection": 

Audio Visual Collection: 

Current Reference Collection: 

Use of Specific Appraisals 

Assets are classified as heritage and cultural assets and they are valued in 
accordance with Queensland Treasury's Non-Current Asset Policies for the 
Queensland Public Sector (NCAP 7 - Accounting for Library Collections). An in
house valuation is conducted by a professional librarian. An average cost of 
unique and valuable items obtained from the open market is applied to the number 
of items to value the total collection. 

Assets are carried at cost because no reliable market value can be obtained. 
Factors include: 
• the collection includes unique (one-off) heritage items; 
• the collection is irreplaceable; and 
• the collection will never be sold by the Legislative Assembly. 

Assets are carried at cost because no reliable market value can be obtained. 
Factors include: 
• the utility of the items are unique to the Queensland Parliament; 
• there is no market for such items therefore cannot be sourced externally or 

reliably valued; and 
• there is no comparable market. 

Expensed on acquisition due to items having a short life and low value. 

Revaiuations using independent professionai valuers or internai experi. appraisals are undertaken at least once every five years. 
However, if a particular asset class experiences significant and volatile changes in fair value, that class is subject to specific appraisal 
in the reporting period, where practicable, regardless of the timing of the last specific appraisal. 

The fair values reported by the Legislative Assembly are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximise the use of 
available and relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs (as defined in Note A1-5). 

Use of Indices 

Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, their previous valuations are materially kept up-to-date 
via the application of relevant indices. The Legislative Assembly ensures that the application of such indices results in a valid 
estimation of the assets' fair values at reporting date. 

Accounting for Changes in Fair Vaiue 

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation cf an asset is credited to the asset revaluation surplus cf the appropriate c!ass, 
except to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in the 
carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset class. 

For assets revalued using a cost valuation approach (e.g. current/depreciated replacement cost) - accumulated depreciation is 
adjusted to equal the difference between the gross amount and carrying amount, after taking into account accumulated impairment 
losses. This is generally referred to as the 'gross method'. 
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A revaluation was performed by Gray Robinson Cottrell (GRC) during the 2020-21 financial year by undertaking an indexation 
assessment for the Parliamentary Precinct buildings and land improvements. Based on the assessment of relevant indices such as 
Building Price Index (BPI) and Locality Index (LI), GRC recommended an indexation adjustment of 4.49% (effective 30 June 2021) 
to the carrying value of the assets. The value of the Parliamentary building assets were adjusted accordingly during the 2020-21 
financial year. The last comprehensive revaluation of the buildings were undertaken in the 2016-17 financial year. 

Land 

In 2020-21, State Valuation Services (SVS) conducted a comprehensive revaluation of the Parliamentary Land in accordance with 
the requirements of the International Valuation Standards and Australian Accounting Standard AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 
and Queensland Treasury's Non-current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. The valuation took into account: 

1. The condition of the market including recent sales of development sites that have heritage implications; and 

2. Development restrictions caused by Parliament House's heritage listing and the location of land under the Riverside Expressway. 

There was no change to the value of the land (effective 30 June 2021 ). 

Heritage and Cultural Assets 

The last comprehensive independent revaluation of heritage and cultural assets was undertaken in 2013 (for artworks & objects; and 
the 20th Century Heritage Book Collection) and 2014 (for heritage furniture). 

The Legislative Assembly assessed the value of the heritage and cultural assets as not material compared to the total balance of 
property, plant and equipment therefore a more recent comprehensive revaluation was not considered cost-effective and was not 
performed. It is intended that some significant heritage assets be valued on an as needed basis from an operational perspective. 

The 20th Century Heritage Book Collection was assessed by the in-house professional librarian during the 2020-21 financial year 
resulting in an increase in book value by $58,000 representing 14.7% increase from the 2012-13 valuation. 

C4-5 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE 

Accounting Policy 

Land and heritage and cultural assets are not depreciated as they have unlimited useful lives. 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the net cost or revalued amount of each asset, 
less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the Legislative Assembly . 

Key Judgement: Straight line depreciation is used reflecting the progressive and even consumption of future economic benefits 
over their useful life to the Legislative Assembly. 

Assets under construction (work-in-progress) are not depreciated until they reach service delivery capacity. Service delivery capacity 
relates to when construction is complete and the asset is first put to use or is installed ready for use in accordance with its intended 
application. These assets are then reclassified to the relevant classes within property, plant and equipment. 

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned 
useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate and are depreciated accordingly. 

The depreciable amount of rental property improvements is allocated progressively over the estimated useful lives of the 
improvements or the unexpired period of the rent agreements, whichever is the shorter. The unexpired period of a rent includes any 
option period where exercise of the option is probable. 

For depreciable assets other than building assets, residual value is determined to be $100 reflecting the estimated amount to be 
received on disposal at the end of their useful life. 
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Key Estimate: For each class of depreciable asset the following depreciation rates are used: 

Class 

Buildings: 

Heritage 

Operational 

Plant and equipment: 

Computer equipment 

Other equipment 

Rental property improvements 

Rate% 

1-6 

1-6 

4-20 

3-20 

1-16 

Useful lives and depreciation rates are reviewed annually. The review for the 2020-21 financial year caused no material impact to 
the depreciation expense. 

C4-6 IMPAIRMENT 

Accounting Policy 

All non-current physical assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis. If an indicator of possible impairment 
exists, the Legislative Assembly determines the asset's recoverable amount. Any amount by which the asset's carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. 

Impairment Events 

The Legislative Assembly has no asset impairment as at 30 June 2021 (2019-20: Nil). 

CS PAYABLES 
2021 2020 

$'000 $'000 

Trade creditors 1,808 1,746 

Deferred appropriaiion payable 87i i,968 

Tax Payable 27 

Total 2,706 3,714 

Accounting Policy - Payables 

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the agreed purchase/contract 
price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are unsecured. As the Legislative Assembly expects such 
liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at undiscounted amounts. 

Disclosure - Liquidity Risk Exposure, Measurement and Risk Management Strategies 

The Legislative Assembly is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of its payables. 

The Legislative Assembly has an existing bank overdraft facility limit approved by Queensland Treasury. This facility combined with 
...1 - '.! --- 1.... ~ - -- - _ 1..._ __ _ . _ - -'-~ -•--- - - -- . - -- .!. l- - ! - ~ : _ , _ _._: ., _ A - ---- L- L , I.... - - - -- ~ - ~ -~ -'- r . . ~ ....!! - - - -- ~I - L I - _._ _ _ ___ _._ --- - !- . -- -~ .J - - - -~ -- !'. ~--
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obligations as they fall due. 

The Legislative Assembly settles all payables within a 12 month period. 
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C6 ACCRUED EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Current 

Annual leave levy payable 

Long service levy payable 

Other 

Total 

Accounting Policy - Accrued Employee Benefits 

2021 2020 
$'000 $'000 

877 

224 

25 

1,126 

790 

189 

30 

1,009 

No provision for annual leave or long service leave is recognised in the Legislative Assembly's statements as the liability is held on 
a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General 
Government Sector Financial Reporting. 

C7 EQUITY 

C?-1 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

Appropriations for equity adjustments are recognised as Contributed Equity when they meet the characteristics of equity in 
accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities (refer Note C?-2). 

C7-2 APPROPRIATION RECOGNISED IN EQUITY 

Reconciliation of Payments from Consolidated Fund to Equity Adjustment 

Appropriated equity withdrawals 

Appropriated equity injections 

Equity adjustment recognised in Contributed Equity 

C7-3 ASSET REVALUATION SURPLUS BY ASSET CLASS 

Balance 1 July 2019 

Revaluation increments 

Balance 30 June 2020 

Revaluation increments 

Balance 30 June 2021 

Accounting Policy 

Land 

$'000 

96,710 

-

96,710 

-

96,710 

Buildings 

$'000 

80,681 

930 

81,611 

2,490 

84,101 

2021 2020 
$'000 $'000 

(5,503) (5,128) 

6,219 3,812 

716 (1,316) 

Heritage & Total 
Cultural Assets 

$'000 $'000 

3,531 180,922 

- 930 

3,531 181,852 

58 2,548 

3,589 184,400 

The asset revaluation surplus represents the net effect of upwards and downwards revaluations of assets to fair value. 

D1 CONTINGENCIES 
The Legislative Assembly holds bank guarantees totaling $156,000 which were issued by contractors in accordance with contracts 
entered into between both parties. The guarantees protect the Legislative Assembly against any potential non-performance of 
contractors. 
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D2-1 Capital Expenditure Commitments 

Commitments for capital expenditure at reporting date (inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits) are payable: 

Buildings 

Not later than 1 year 

Total 

Intangibles 

Not later than 1 year 

Total 

Disclosure - Capital Expenditure Commitments Buildings 

2021 
$'000 
2,042 

2,042 

2021 
$'000 

412 

412 

2020 
$'000 

841 

841 

2020 
$'000 

108 

108 

The Legislative Assembly entered into new contracts during the 2020-21 financial year for capital projects associated with upgrades 
of critical infrastructures in the Parliamentary Annexe building. 

D2-2 Other Commitments 

Material classes of other commitments include rental commitments for electorate office accommodation agreements and 
parliamentary precinct service maintenance contracts. Other commitments are inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits, 
contracted for at reporting date, but not recognised in the accounts and are payable: 

Not later than 1 year 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 

Later than 5 years 

Tota! 

D3 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 

2021 2020 
$'000 $'000 

11,966 10,050 

28,423 17,069 

18,665 2,591 

59,053 29,710 

No matter or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year that has significantly affected or may significantly affect 
the operation or financial statements of the Legislative of Assembly in subsequent financial years. 

D4 FUTURE IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

At the date of authorisation of the financial report. there are no new or amended Australian Accounting Standards identified that will 
have significant impacts to the future financial reporting of the Legislative Assembly. 

E1 BUDGETARY REPORTING DISCLOSURES 

This section contains explanations of major variances between the Legislative Assembly's actual 2020-21 financial results and the 
original budget presented to Parliament. 

As the 2020-21 original budget presented to Parliament did not include a budgeted Balance Sheet or budgeted Statement of Cash 
Flows, only the budget to actual disclosures for the Statement of Comprehensive Income is presented below. 
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E1 -1 EXPLANATIONS OF MAJOR VARIANCE 

Explanations of Major Variances - Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Appropriation revenue: 

Grants and other contributions: 

Other revenue: 

Supplies and services: 

Appropriation revenue is higher than budgeted due to appropriations for unforeseen 
expenditure related to costs associated with the 2020 state election and additional 
funding to support service delivery pressures, and a Treasurer's Transfer from capital 
to operating for the Library Management System. Refer to Note B 1-1. 

Grants and other contributions reflect goods received below fair value in respect of 
contributions made by the Department of Energy and Public Works and CS Energy. 
Refer to Note B1-3. 

The variance in Other revenue is related to the sale of information technology 
equipment. 

The variance in Supplies and services is related to additional funding to support service 
delivery pressures, and expenditure on the Library Management System. Refer to Note 
B2-2. 

F1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (KMP) DISCLOSURES 
Details of Key Management Personnel 

The following table details the key management personnel who had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Legislative Assembly during 2020-21 and 2019-20. Further information about these positions can be found in 
the body of the Annual Report under the section relating to Executive Management. 

Position Position Responsibility 

Speaker of the Legislative Assembly The role of the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly in relation to the Queensland Parliamentary Service 
is to decide major policies to guide the operation and management of the Legislative Assembly; to 
prepare budgets; to decide the size and organisation of the Legislative Assembly and the services to be 
supplied by the Legislative Assembly; and to supervise the management and delivery of services by the 
Legislative Assembly. 

Clerk of the Parliament The Clerk of the Parliament is the Principal Officer of the Legislative Assembly providing advice to the 
Speaker, Ministers, Members of Parliament and Parliamentary Committees on parliamentary law, 
practice and procedure. The Clerk of the Parliament is also the Chief Executive Officer and Accountable 
Officer of the Parliamentary Service. 

Deputy Clerk The Deputy Clerk of the Parliament is responsible for assisting at the table of the house during 
parliamentary sittings, managing the Assembly and Committee Services Division; and contributes to the 
executive management of the Parliamentary Service as a member of the Executive Management Group 
and Chair of the Audit Management Group. 

Director of Corporate Services and The Director of Corporate Services and Electorate Office Liaison is responsible for leading human 
Electorate Office Liaison resource management, financial and administrative services, and electorate office liaison; and 

contributes to the executive management of the Parliamentary Service as a member of the Executive 
Management Group and the Chair of Workplace Health and Safety Management Group. 

Director of Information Services and The Director of Information Services and Parliamentary Librarian is responsible for leading the 
Parliamentary Librarian Information Services Division; and contributes to the executive management of the Parliamentary 

Service as a member of the Executive Management Group (EMG) and the Chair of the Information and 
Communication Technology Management Group (ICTMG). 

Director of Property and Facility The Director of Property and Facility Services is responsible for leading the Property and Facility Services 
Services Division (which provides a range of critical accommodation, security and hospitality services to Members, 

staff and visitors); and contributes to the executive management of the Parliamentary Service as a 
member of the Executive Management Group and the Chair of Security Management Group. 
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Remuneration policy for the Legislative Assembly's key management personnel is set under the Parliamentary Services Act 1988 
(Qld). Individual remuneration and other terms of employment are specified in employment contracts. 

Remuneration expenses for key management personnel comprise the following components: 

Short term employee expenses which include: 
• salaries, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the entire year, or for that part of the year during 

which the employee was a key management person; and 
• non-monetary benefits - taxable benefits received by employees including the fringe benefits tax applicable. 

Long term employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave entitlements earned. 

Post-employment expenses include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation obligations. 

Termination benefits are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide only for notice 
periods or payment in lieu of notice on termination, regardless of the reason for termination. 

KMP Remuneration Expenses 

The following disclosures focus on the expenses incurred by the Legislative Assembly that are attributable to key management 
positions during the respective reporting periods. The amounts disclosed are determined on the same basis as expenses recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

2020-21 

Short Term Employee 
Long Term Post-

Total 
Employee Employment 

Position Expenses 
Expenses Benefit 

Expenses 

Monetary Non-Monetary 
Expenses Benefits 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Speaker of the Legislative Assembly 330 2 - 39 371 

Clerk of the Parliament 342 1 8 41 392 

Deputy Clerk 214 1 5 22 242 

Director of Corporate Services and Electorate Office Liaison 172 - 4 19 195 

Director of Information Services and Parliamentary Librarian 146 - 3 19 168 

Director of Property and Facilities Services 143 9 3 18 173 

2019-20 

Short Term Employee 
Long Term Post-

Total 
Employee Employment 

Position Expenses Expenses Benefit Expenses 

Monetary Non-Monetary 
Expenses Benefits 

d-11nnn $1000 $'000 $'000 d-11'\ftl'l 
,r{)UUU ,,1>UUU 

Speaker of the Legislative Assembly 329 2 - 39 370 

Clerk of the Parliament 323 2 7 40 372 

Deputy Clerk 212 - 5 21 238 

Director of Corporate Services and Electorate Office Liaison 177 - 4 18 199 

Director of Information Services and Parliamentary Librarian 153 - 3 18 174 

Director of Property and Facilities Services 154 8 3 18 183 
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Disclosure - Speaker of the Legislative Assembly 

Direct remuneration for the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly is set out in the Members' Remuneration Handbook. In addition, 
certain non-monetary benefits are provided pursuant to the Guidelines for the Financial Management of the Office of the Speaker. 
For the purpose of KMP Remuneration, 'Monetary Expenses' includes direct remuneration associated with the Speaker's role as a 
Member, and an additional salary component associated with duties undertaken as the Speaker of the Legislative Assembly. The 
Members' Remuneration Handbook and the Guidelines for the Financial Management of the Office of the Speaker are published on 
the Queensland Parliament's website: http://www.parliament.qld.gov.au 

Performance Payments 

No KMP remuneration packages provide for performance or bonus payments. 

F2 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Transactions with people/entities related to KMP 

All transactions with KMP and their related entities are conducted in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms 
and conditions no more favourable than those given to other customers. 

Transactions with Queensland Government-controlled entities 

While the Legislative Assembly and Queensland Parliamentary Service are independent from the Executive Government the 
Legislative Assembly's primary ongoing source of funding is from the Queensland Government which includes appropriation revenue 
(Note B1-1) and equity injection (Note C7-1 and C7-2), both of which are provided in cash via Queensland Treasury. 

The Legislative Assembly received services associated with Parliament House Fence Restoration Program from the Department of 
Energy and Public Works and supply and installation of electric vehicle charging stations from CS Energy, free of charge (Note B1-
3). 

The Legislative Assembly sells a range of goods and services to individuals and entities. Transactions with other Queensland 
Government-controlled entities are conducted in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms and conditions no 
more favorable than those given to other customers. 

F3 FIRST YEAR APPLICATION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS OR CHANGE IN 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Accounting Standards Early Adopted 

No Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for 2020-21. 

Accounting Standards Applied for the First Time in 2020-21 

No Australian Accounting Standards applied to the Legislative Assembly for the first time in the 2020-21 financial year have any 
material impact on the financial statements. 

F4 TAXATION 
The Legislative Assembly is a State body defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth) and is exempt from 
Commonwealth taxation with the exception of fringe benefits tax (FBT) and goods and services tax (GST). FBT and GST are the 
only taxes accounted for by the Legislative Assembly. GST credits receivable from, and GST payable to the ATO, are recognised 
(refer to Note C2). 
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FS COVID-19 IMPACT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHER EMERGING RISKS 
F5-1 COVID-19 IMPACT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following significant transactions were recognised by the Legislative Assembly during the 2020-21 financial year in response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. The amounts below are subjective estimates based on known impacts to normal operations, changes to 
forecasts, and comparisons to previous years' performance. 

Significant financial impacts - COVID-19 

Operating Statement 

Significant expense transactions arising from COVJD-19 
Additional expenses: 

Virtual Parliament related costs 
Additional employee related expenses 
Other expenses 

Reduction in expenses: 
Reduction in electorate and communication allowance 
Reduction in Members' travel expenses 
Reduction in catering services expenses 
Reduction in committee travel expenses 
Reduction in other expenses 

Significant revenue transactions arising from COVID-19 

Reduction In catering services revenues 
Reduction in education seminar revenues 
Reduction in other revenue 

Additional employee entitlements 

2021 2020 
$'000 $'000 

83 
25 67 
65 62 

(966) 
(356) (308) 

(279) 
(171) (82) 

(70) 
(436) (1,493) 

2021 2020 
$'000 $'000 

113 522 
62 39 

37 
175 598 

The Legislative Assembly recorded 70 days of special leave associated with COVID-19 pandemic for which $16,805 was expensed 
in employee expenses during the 2020-21 financial year. 

Credit loss on receivables 

COVID-19 has had no impact on credit risks of trade debtors as majority of the total trade receivables represent Queensland 
Government agencies or customers associated with the Legislative Assembly. 

The Legislative Assembly did not recognise any bad debts in the 2020-21 financial year resulting from COVID-19. 

Fair value on non-current assets 

The Legislative Assen1bly measures the ParliaiT1entary Precinct buHdings and land at fai r value. Parliarnentary land is rneasured 
using the market approach and the Parliamentary buildings using the current replacement value. Independent valuers were engaged 
during the 2020-21 financial year to provide the latest valuation of these two non-current assets and potential impact of COVID-19 
fl$ ~t ~hf:' r~pnrlJna rl~tP 

The independent valuers have concluded that there is no significant change in value of the Parliamentary land and building as a 
result of COVID-19 for 30 June 2021 financial statement reporting. 

F5-2 CLIMATE RISK DISCLOSURE 

The Legislative Assembly has not identified any material climate related risks related to the financial report at the reporting date, 
however constantly monitors the emergence of such risks under the Queensland Government's Climate Transition Strategy. 
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Management Certificate 

Legislative Assembly of Queensland Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2021 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to s.62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 {Old) 

{the Act), section 38 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019 and other prescribed requirements. In 

accordance with s.62(1 ){b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion: 

a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all material respects; and 

b) the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with prescribed accounting 

standards, of the transactions of the Legislative Assembly of Queensland for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 and of the 

financial position of the Legislative Assembly of Queensland at the end of that year; and 

The Clerk of the Parliament, as the Accountable Officer of the Legislative Assembly of Queensland, acknowledges responsibility 

under s. 7 and s.11 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019 for the establishment and maintenance, in all 

material respects, of an appropriate and effective system of internal control and risk management processes with respect to financial 

reporting throughout the reporting period. 

Signature 

C R ATKINSON BBus(Accy) MIPA 

Director, Corporate Services and Electorate Office Liaison 

Date 2'/ 1 o<ir 1202/ 
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LAURIE LLB LLM (Hons) MBA 

Clerk of the Parliament 
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• • Audit Office 

Better public services 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Clerk of the Parliament, Legislative Assembly of Queensland 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of Legislative Assembly of Queensland. 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the department's financial position as at 30 June 2021, and 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

b) complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2019 and Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position and statement of assets 
and liabilities by major service areas as at 30 June 2021, the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and statement of 
comprehensive income by major service areas for the year then ended, notes to the financial 
statements including summaries of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, and the certificates given by the Clerk of the Parliament and the Director, 
Corporate Services and Electorate Office Liason .. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report. 

I am independent of the department in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code 
and the Auditor-General Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Responsibilities of the department for the financial report 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2019 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for 
such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
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The Accountable Officer is also responsible for assessing the department's ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the department or to 
otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance vvith the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. This is not done for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the department's internal controls, but 
allows me to express an opinion on compliance with prescribed requirements. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the department. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the department's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
department's ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor's report to the related 
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my 
opinion. I base my conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my 
auditor's report. Ho\1\/ever, future events or conditions may cause the department to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate vvith the Accountable Officer regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Statement 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2021: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required. 

b) I consider that, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and 
keeping of accounts were complied with in all material respects. 

Prescribed requirements scope 

The prescribed requirements for the establishment and keeping of accounts are 
contained in the Financial Accountability Act 2009, any other Act and the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2019. The applicable requirements include those 
for keeping financial records that correctly record and explain the department's 
transactions and account balances to enable the preparation of a true and fair financial 
report. 

Brendan Worral 
Auditor-General 

25 August 2021 

Queensland Audit Office 
Brisbane 
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Glossary

Clerk of the Parliament
The Clerk of the Parliament is the highest ranking, 
permanent, non-political officer in the Parliament. The 
Clerk guides the Speaker and Members on the rules and 
practices of Parliament. 

Executive Government
The Executive Government is the arm of government 
responsible for the implementation of the laws passed by 
the Parliament.

Financial year
The period of 12 months beginning on 1 July and ending on 
30 June the following year.

Hansard
The official report of the debates and proceedings of 
Parliament and its committees. This report is now known 
as the Record of Proceedings.

Initiative
A business initiative is an organisation’s way of setting 
priority. It usually describes the direction the organisation 
wants to take and how it will improve the organisation.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
A set of indicators that assist in measuring  
overall performance and reflect the health of  
the organisation.

Legislative Assembly
The Legislative Assembly is a body of people elected to 
represent constituencies and introduce, amend or repeal 
legislation. The Queensland Legislative Assembly is made 
up of 93 elected representatives. 

Parliament
The Queensland Parliament consists of the Legislative 
Assembly and the Queen, represented by the Governor. 
The Parliament (or legislature) is separate to the  
Executive Government.

Parliamentary Service
The Parliamentary Service consists of staff members who 
provide support services to Members of Parliament at 
Parliament House in Brisbane and in the 97 electorate 
offices throughout Queensland. 

Record of Proceedings 
The official report of the debates and proceedings of the 
Parliament and its committees. Also known as Hansard.

Speaker
The Speaker of the Legislative Assembly of Queensland 
has ceremonial, procedural and administrative 
responsibilities for the Queensland Parliament and 
Parliamentary Service. The Speaker impartially presides 
over the sittings of Parliament, maintaining order in the 
House and ensuring the rules of Parliament (Standing 
Orders) are observed. 

Tabled papers
Any documents that are tabled in the Queensland 
Parliament (presented to the House) are registered and 
archived at Parliament House. The Tabled Papers Database 
on the Parliament’s website provides electronic access to 
and searching of tabled papers.
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Appendix
Annual report compliance
The following annual report checklist outlines the governance, performance, reporting compliance and procedural 
requirements applicable to the Queensland Parliament from the Financial Accountability Act 2009 (FAA), the Financial 
Performance and Management Standard 2019 (FPMS) as well as the Annual report requirements for Queensland 
Government agencies (ARRs).

Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Page 

Letter of compliance
A letter of compliance from the accountable officer or statutory 
body to the relevant Minister

ARRs – section 7 6

Accessibility
Table of contents ARRs – section 9.1 3

Glossary ARRs – section 9.1 105

Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 2

Interpreter service statement Queensland Government 
Language Services Policy

ARRs – section 9.3

2

Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968

ARRs – section 9.4

2

General Information
Introductory information ARRs – section 10.1 4

Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 10.2 9

Operating environment ARRs – section 10.3 9

Non-Financial Performance
Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs – section 11.3 10

Agency service areas and service standards ARRs – section 11.4 24, 30, 43, 53

Financial Performance
Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 12.1 11

Governance – Management and Structure
Organisational structure ARRs – section 13.1 59

Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 64

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

ARRs – section 13.4

39
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Governance – Risk Management and Accountability

Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 60

Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 62

External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 62

Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 14.5 62

Governance – Human Resources
Workplace planning and performance ARRs – section 15.1 37-38

Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment Directive No.16/16 
Early Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment

Directive No.04/18 
Early Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment

ARRs – section 15.2

67

Financial Statements
Certification of financial statements FAA – section 62

FPMS – sections 38, 39 and 
46

ARRs – section 17.1

101

Independent Auditors Report FAA – section 62

FPMS – section 46

ARRs – section 17.2

102-104

ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies 
FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009
FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019
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